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Corporate history and acquisitions
1979 Company founded 
1989 International Greetings Group formed
1989 Hysil Manufacturing Co (US), gift wrap
1991 Gift Design, bows and ribbons
1992 Brite Sparks, Christmas crackers
1992 Giftwrap, printer of gift wrap
1995 AIM listing 
1996 Scoop Designs, packaged gifts
1997 AIM Company of the Year
1998 Copywrite Designs, children’s stationery and bags
1998 The Cracker Company, confectionery crackers
1999 AIM Corporate Communicator of the Year
2000 Pepperpot, gift stationery business
2000 Stephen Lawrence (US), gift wrap
2003 Hoomark (Netherlands), gift wrap
2004 Krakajack (Ireland), Christmas crackers
2005 AIM Decade of Excellence Award
2005 Napier Industries, Christmas crackers
2005 Anker International, stationery, greetings and photographic gifts
2006 Alligator Books, children’s books and stationery
2006 Anchor International (Netherlands), stationery, greetings and photographic gifts
2007 Eick Pack (Germany), gift wrap
2007 Weltec (Holland), photo frames
2007 Artex (Poland), gift wrap
2007 Pinwheel, children’s books
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Following this difficult year of trading, 
we have reviewed our business model 
and strategic objectives.
We are committed to maximising profit
through the creation and design of our
products, which are distributed by our 
global trading operations, utilising common
operating standards and procedures. 
Our key objective is to return International
Greetings to profitability and deliver
shareholder value. 

Shaping the Future

Financial
highlights
Turnover £194 million 
Loss before tax (£3.1 million)* 
Loss per share (3.2p)* 
Dividend per share 2.0p

Geographical
breakdown
UK 48.5% 
US 25.5%
Europe 24%
Rest of world 2%

Licensed
characters
Disney
Winnie The Pooh
The Simpsons 
High School Musical

*Adjusted to exclude significant items and losses from discontinued operations.
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It has been a very difficult 
year for the Company, as 
our Interim Statement and
subsequent announcements
over the past seven months
have indicated. Although a
number of corporate goals
have been achieved, in
particular the growth of our
international business, these
have been overshadowed 
by significant trading and
operational difficulties in the
UK Greetings division. 

The financial impact of these has
been a major contributor to the
trading loss being reported for
the full year. Revenue for the
period was £194.2 million (2007:
£196.7 million). The adjusted
loss* for the year was £3.1
million (2007: £17.7 million profit).
After significant items from
continuing operations charged of
£7.5 million (2007: £1.0 million
credited) and losses from
discontinued operations (net of
tax) of £4.3 million (2007: £nil),
the net loss for the year before
tax was £14.9 million (2007:
£18.7 million profit). Adjusted*
loss per share was 3.2p (2007:
29.4p earnings). The basic loss
per share for the year was 25.7p
(2007: 31.1p earnings). 

An interim dividend of 2.0p was
paid in December. As announced
in February, in view of the
anticipated financial performance
of the Company, the Board
decided it would not be

appropriate to pay a final
dividend for the current year, 
but it is intended that as the
Company moves back into profit,
dividends will be reviewed.

In our Interim Statement the
Board announced that an
extensive review of the UK
Greetings division was underway
and that Paul Fineman would
become Group Managing
Director with a specific
responsibility to restructure and
improve the performance of that
division. Major steps have been
taken to this end, which are
detailed in the Chief Executive’s
Report, including the streamlining
of our operations in South Wales
and strengthening the
management team. This should
result in due course in a lean,
efficient and profitable business. 

Elsewhere, both in the UK and
overseas, our businesses,
although operating in tough
trading conditions, have 
delivered acceptable results. 

During the year, in line with our
strategy of reducing our
dependence on the UK market,
the Company acquired four
businesses, three of which are
based overseas. Two of these will
develop our European gift wrap
and photo-frame businesses. The
third strengthens our US gift wrap
business and the fourth, our only
UK acquisition, enhances our
presence in the children’s book

Chairman’s
Statement

*adjusted to exclude significant items and
losses from discontinued operations

Our Shenzhen factory in Southern
China now manufactures 12% of 
the Group’s products.
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trade. In addition, a 50% stake 
in Artwrap PTY, a greetings and
stationery business based in
Australia was purchased and 
I am pleased to report that this
investment has already exceeded
our expectations. 

An investment was also made in
Halloween Express, a company
operating in the US Halloween
retail sector. This investment,
however, did not produce the
expected returns. As it was a not
a core part of the Company’s
future trading activities, the Board
decided to dispose of the
investment. Since the year-end, 
a sale has been completed.

The Company also announces
that Mark Collini is retiring as
Finance Director with effect from
today’s date, having served the
Company in this capacity for
some 20 years. On behalf of the
Board, I would like to thank Mark
for his contribution to the
business and wish him well for
the future. Sheryl Tye will be
appointed Finance Director in 
his place with effect from 
3 September 2008.

Following this difficult year, the
Board has reviewed all aspects
of the Company’s business and
is taking the following action to
improve performance:

• to develop further our
international business, thereby
reducing dependence on the
UK market;

• to place greater emphasis 
on innovation and the 
quality of our products and
designs, areas which have
been at the heart of the 
Company’s success; 

• to concentrate on the
Company’s core activities of
manufacturing and supplying
ranges of stationery and
greetings products to the
global retail sector.

Notwithstanding the downturn 
in consumer markets, our current
trading is broadly in line with 
this year’s business plan. In
particular, we have a healthy
forward order book for the
Christmas 2008 season.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, 
I would like to thank all of our
employees for their hard work,
commitment and dedication to
the business during the year. 

Keith James
Chairman
21 August 2008

Our design showrooms allow
customers to view a wide range 
of products in a retail setting.
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Although we have fulfilled a
number of strategic objectives,
our Group’s performance this
year has suffered, primarily
due to trading conditions
surrounding the UK Greetings
division. As a consequence,
we have reviewed our
business model and future
strategy, with the key objective
to return International
Greetings to profitability and
deliver shareholder value.

UK
Last year’s planned merger and
reorganisation of the seasonal
trading businesses into one
operating division based in South
Wales did not yield the cost
savings and operational benefits
envisaged. With reduced
customer orders as a result 
of the tough retail climate, the
management of the division 
did not react to streamlining 
the business or reducing the 
cost base quickly enough. 

This, together with production
and control issues in the satellite
manufacturing facilities in Latvia,
exacerbated the problems
resulting in an overall reduction 
in margins. That said, customer
service and goodwill did not
suffer which protected the
division’s future order book.

A restructuring was announced
last December with a new
management team put in place
to action the changes needed

and deliver a set of financial
goals and production objectives.
With the subsequent closure of
the Latvian factory in its entirety,
part of the capacity from that
location has been moved to our
factory in China with the balance
being out-sourced. In addition, 
in South Wales, the redundancy
consultation period concluded 
in July 2008 with approximately
60% of the work force being
retained for the future. These
initiatives have led to a high level
of exceptional restructuring
costs, but will deliver significant
savings in the future. 

As a result of the action already
taken and further initiatives
planned, it is expected that the
UK Greetings business will 
return to profitability during the
2009-2010 financial year. Due 
to the reduced level of in-house
manufacturing compared to
previous years, there will be 
a significant reduction in 
capital expenditure, and the
management also expect to
realise funds from certain asset
sales in South Wales. 

Our other UK businesses, namely
Anker and Alligator, were affected
by the tough high street trading
climate, with a number of retailers
going out of business during the
last year. They did, however,
perform well given the trading
conditions. In particular, Alligator
Books has now fully integrated
the acquisition of Pinwheel into 

Chief
Executive’s 
Review

More than 60 designers contributed
to ensuring we lead our sector in 
design excellence. 



/5

its operations, and will utilise 
the benefits of the intellectual
property acquired through its
existing distribution channels. 

Europe
During this trading year we
achieved sales growth of 55% in
mainland Europe and we continue
to increase our market share in
many of our product categories. 

Our European business is now
very clearly split into two
divisions. The Anchor BV trading
division, following the acquisition
of the Weltec photo frame
business last April, is focused on
distributing photographic and
stationery products throughout
Europe. The Hoomark greetings
division, having grown its top line
revenue over the last couple of
years, now intends to leverage
this position and focus on
increasing margins. New
products are also being
introduced to mainland Europe
from other Group companies,
which will enhance our product
offering and growth potential.

US
The integration of the Glitterwrap
business into IG’s US operations
is nearing completion and will
result in one combined business
leveraging an enhanced product
range to a larger base of US
customers utilising one single
manufacturing and distribution
base. Following the Glitterwrap 

acquisition, sales in the US now
contribute in the region of 25% of
Group revenue. Our products are
distributed to all market sectors
from entry level discount retailers
through to premium department
stores. We are committed to 
the long-term development of 
the US division, which offers
significant organic growth
potential for the Group.

Asia
IG Asia consists of two areas 
of operation – the Hong Kong
sourcing and direct sales office,
and the Shenzhen factory in
Southern China which has
expanded and now manufactures
12% of the Group’s products.
With the recent relocation of
printing equipment from Latvia,
the factory will focus on the
production of two of the Group’s
key product areas, namely
crackers and gift bags.

The continued development of
our operations is expected, as it
is necessary for our future growth
that we are in direct control of
our manufacturing and sourcing
and in particular that we maintain
the quality standards of our
goods. Additionally, we are
developing direct sales to our
large global customers from 
Asia, which now amount to
approximately £15 million of 
the Group’s sales.

A correct balance of sourcing and
manufacture ensures we can continue
to innovate and remain cost effective.
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Australia
Following healthy results from our
investment in 50% of Artwrap
PTY, we have agreed ambitious
growth plans for the next three
years with our co-owners.
Utilising the Group’s product 
and design resources, and
manufacturing and sourcing
capabilities, we are exploiting the
synergy benefits available and
are extremely encouraged by the
opportunities for this business.

Design and Licensing
With the globalisation and
commonality of our products and
designs across world markets we
are, through our digital asset
management system, leveraging
our intellectual property across all
Group companies.

Licensed merchandise remains 
a key area of our business. We
have sold product into the UK
market for the recent launch of
The Incredible Hulk film. For the
2008 Christmas season, product
has been pre sold into the
market for the autumn release 
of High School Musical 3 and
Madagascar 2.

In October of last year we were
delighted to be awarded the
accolade of European and 
UK Licensee of the Year by
Disney Consumer Products. 
This reflected our on-going
commitment to deliver 
excellence in product design 
and development and service 

to our customers both in the 
UK and throughout Europe.

Conclusion
Having made a number of
important strategic acquisitions
during the past few years, we
have now reshaped our business
strategy to concentrate on the
organic growth potential of our
global operating divisions with 
a focus on realising synergy
benefits and enhancing margins.
Under the direction of our new
Group Managing Director, all
companies are moving towards
operating under common
standards and disciplines to
create one cohesive business.
We have built strong trading
platforms in all our geographic
locations, and with the UK
greetings recovery plan under
way, we intend to return the
Group to profitability for the
current year, with the full benefits
from the restructuring of the 
UK greetings division coming
through in 2009-2010.

Nick Fisher
Chief Executive
21 August 2008 

Chief Executive’s Review
continued

Assembling labour intensive items in
our China factory enhances quality
and controls costs.
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Financial
Review

This is the first year that the
Group’s financial statements
have been prepared in
accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU.
The effects of the adoption 
of these standards are
explained in note 35 to the
financial statements. 

Group Performance
Revenue from continuing
operations for the year to 
31 March 2008 amounted to
£194.2 million (2007: £196.7
million). Increases in revenue by
destination of £4.7 million in the
US, £16.6 million in Europe and
£1.0 million in the rest of the
world were offset by a £24.8
million decrease in UK revenue
by destination, primarily in the 
UK Greetings division. 

The gross profit margin
(excluding restructuring costs)
decreased from 32.9% to 23.6%,
primarily due to the operational
problems experienced during the
year in the UK Greetings division.
These results also include a
credit of £4.2 million (2007: 
£4.2 million) in relation to
compensation for gross profit on
lost sales during the year as a
result of a fire at the South Wales
print plant in 2005. Operating
profit before significant items 
and discontinued operations
decreased from £20.6 million to
£0.3 million. Significant items
during the year amounted to 

a £7.5 million charge (2007: £1.0
million credit) and relate largely 
to the major restructuring of the
Group’s operations in order to
maintain competitiveness. The
majority of these costs related 
to the closure of the Latvia
operations, the integration and
merger of the UK greetings
division, the transfer of
production to China and the
integration of the Group’s
acquisitions of Glitterwrap,
Weltec and Pinwheel into the
existing operations. 

Operating profit after significant
items decreased from £21.6
million to an operating loss of
£7.2 million.

Net financing costs increased
from £2.9 million to £3.9 million,
primarily due to higher borrowing
levels arising as a result of
acquisitions made during 
the year. 

The adjusted* loss before tax for
the year was £3.1 million (2007:
£17.7 million profit). The loss
before tax from continuing
operations was £10.5 million
(2007: profit of £18.7 million).

Losses from discontinued
operations (net of tax) of £4.4
million (2007: £nil) arose from 
the Group’s UK internet and
seasonal retail operations (£0.9
million) and its investment in
associate, Halloween Express, 
in the US (£3.5 million). 

*figure adjusted to exclude significant items
and discontinued operations.

Our production plant in South Wales
has restructured to increase
efficiencies.



/9

Earnings Per Share and
Dividend
The adjusted* basic loss per
share for the year ended 
31 March 2008 was 3.2p,
compared with earnings last 
year of 29.4p. The basic loss 
per share was 25.7p, compared
with earnings last year of 31.1p. 

An interim dividend of 2p (2007:
2.25p) was paid in January 2008.
In light of the Group’s results for
the year, the Directors do not
propose to pay a final dividend
for the year (2007: 7.75p).

Balance Sheet and Cash Flow
Net debt at 31 March 2008
amounted to £64.8 million,
compared to £38.0 million last
year. Cash paid in respect of
acquisitions, including debt
acquired with new acquisitions,
accounted for £11.2 million
(2007: £16.8 million) of this
movement and £8.3 million
(2007: £nil) was incurred in
relation to investments in
associates. Capital expenditure
of £7.5 million (2007: £11.9
million) was offset by a
government grant received of
£2.0 million (2007: £nil). Receipts
from the sale of fixed assets of
£5.1 million included £3.6 million
in relation to the sale of the
Group’s property in Duxford
made last year which was not
received until this year. 

Equity attributable to
shareholders amounted to 

£69.0 million compared to 
£81.8 million last year.

Treasury Operations
The Group continues to receive
the support of its bankers and has
renewed its principal overdraft
facility of £90 million, which is due
to be reviewed on 31 August
2009. In line with the growing
internationalisation of the business
funding is developing on a more
localised basis and the Board
expect this trend to continue. 

The Board continues to assess
and manage the risks associated
with the treasury function as our
business develops. The Group’s
business has a strong seasonal
focus, resulting in large variations
in working capital. As a result,
the Board considers that long-
term reduction of exposure to
fluctuations in interest rates on
working capital is unlikely to be
economically viable.

A significant proportion of 
the Group’s purchases are
denominated in US dollars. 
The effect of exchange rate
fluctuations is reduced through 
a combination of measures
including hedging and forward
exchange contracts.

Mark Collini
Finance Director
21 August 2008

Giftwrap remains our single largest
product category with over 1bn feet
sold to a global market.
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The Directors present their Annual Report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group are the design, manufacture and distribution of gift wrapping paper, greetings cards, 
Christmas crackers, stationery, photo frames, albums and other decorative accessories.

Business review
Full details of the results for the year are set out in the attached financial statements. 

A review of the performance of the business and of its financial position at 31 March 2008 can be found in the Financial Review  
on page 8. 

The Directors believe the significant financial risks facing the Company to be foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. Details 
of the Group’s exposure to these risks can be found in note 30 to these accounts, with commentary included within the Treasury 
Operations paragraph of the Financial Review on page 9.

The Group’s key performance indicators are profitability and earnings per share. Details of the Group’s performance against these 
indicators is included within the Chairman’s Statement and the Financial Review on pages 2 and 8 respectively.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 2.0p was paid (2007: 2.25p). The Directors do not recommend a final dividend (2007: 7.75p), making a total 
for the year of 2.0p (2007: 10p). 

Directors and Directors’ interests
The Directors who held office during the year were as follows:

K James 
S A Hedlund
N Fisher
M Collini (resigned 21 August 2008)
P Fineman 
M Hornung 
J E Jones 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, J E Jones retires by rotation at this year’s Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

The Directors had the following direct interests in the ordinary shares of 5p each of the Company:

 Interest at end of year Interest at beginning of year 

 Ordinary Options Ordinary Options 
 Shares  Shares 

K James 10,562 – 6,562 –
S A Hedlund (a) 901,238 – 901,238 –
N Fisher (b) 1,020,448 – 1,000,448 –
M Collini 179,448 300,000 175,448 300,000
P Fineman (c) 2,188,534 – 2,168,534 –
M Hornung (d) 315,019 650,000 315,019 650,000
J E Jones 19,448 – 15,448 –

In addition to the above holdings:

(a)  20,310,400 (2007: 20,280,400) and 2,819,900 (2007: 2,819,800) ordinary shares of 5p each are respectively registered in the 
names of Artistic AG and Malios AG, companies incorporated in Switzerland and under the ultimate control of the Hedlund family.

(b)  1,500,000 (2007: 1,500,000) ordinary shares of 5p each are registered in the name of Benalex Holdings Limited, a company 
incorporated under the laws of Jersey and owned by a settlement by N Fisher for the benefit of himself and members of his family.

(c)  P Fineman owns a non-beneficial interest in 851,100 (2007: 851,100) ordinary shares of 5p each.
(d)  184,557 (2007: 172,557) ordinary shares of 5p each are held by M Hornung’s pension fund.
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Directors’ options 
No options were granted or exercised and none lapsed during the year. Details of the options to subscribe for ordinary shares  
of 5p each held by M Collini and M Hornung are as follows:

 Date Amount Number of Option price Exercise date 
 granted paid ordinary shares per share between

M Collini 11 July 2003 £1 300,000 £2.20 July 04–July 10
M Hornung 9 April 2003 £1 250,000 £1.85 April 04–April 10
M Hornung 11 July 2003 £1 400,000 £2.20 July 04–July 10

The mid-market price of the Company’s shares on 31 March 2008 was 20p per share, the highest and lowest mid-market prices 
of the Company’s shares during the year were 420p and 20p respectively. 

There are no performance conditions attached to the above options. 

Substantial shareholdings
At 21 August 2008, substantial interests in the issued share capital of the Company, notified and registered in accordance with 
section 198 of the Companies Act 1985, were as follows:

    Number of Percentage of 
    ordinary issued share  
    shares capital

Artistic AG    20,310,400 43.2%
Axa Framlington Investment Management    4,704,616 10.0%
Artemis Investment Management    3,720,713 7.9%
Malios AG    2,819,900 6.0%
P Fineman    2,188,534 4.6%
Benalex Holdings Limited    1,500,000 3.2%

Corporate Governance
The Combined Code which sets out the Principles of Good Governance and Code of Best Practice and combines the work  
of the Cadbury, Greenbury and Hampel committees, is mandatory for fully listed companies.

Whilst there is no obligation for AIM listed companies to comply with this code, the Directors endorse the principles of effective 
Corporate Governance and are committed to maintaining the highest standards of ethics, integrity and professional competence. 
In this regard, an Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee have been established by the Board. The Directors do not 
consider full compliance with the code is appropriate for the Group at this stage of its development but will keep the matter under 
review and continue to develop procedures as the Group grows. 

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of K James (Chairman) and J E Jones (Non-Executive Director). N Fisher (Chief Executive),  
P Fineman (Group Managing Director) and M Collini (Finance Director) attend by invitation. The Committee is chaired by  
K James and meets as required during the year, at least twice with the Group’s external auditors. Its role is to review the interim 
and final financial statements for approval by the Board, to ensure that operational and financial controls are functioning properly, 
and to provide the forum through which the Group’s external auditors report to the Board. 

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of J E Jones and K James. It is chaired by J E Jones and meets as required during the 
year. The Committee determines the remuneration and benefits of the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors have rolling 
one year contracts subject to one year’s notice on either side. The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined by 
the Board.

Employees
The Group recognises the benefits of keeping employees informed as to current business performance. The Group conforms 
to current employment laws on the employment of disabled persons. 
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Political and charitable contributions
The Group made no political or charitable contributions during the year (2007: nil).

Creditor payment policy
The Company does not follow any standard codes of payment but aims to settle supplier accounts in accordance with their individual 
terms of business. The number of days’ purchases outstanding at the year end in respect of the Company was 72 (2007: 55).

Purchase of own shares
The special business to be considered at this year’s AGM includes a resolution (Resolution 6) to renew the Company’s 
authorisation, in accordance with the Companies Act 1985, to purchase its own shares. Whilst the Directors have no current 
intention of doing so, they believe that it would be in the best interests of shareholders as a whole for the Company to retain the 
flexibility to purchase its own shares where to do so would be likely to lead to an increase in earnings per share.

If passed, the resolution would give the Company authority to purchase in the market up to 4,705,668 ordinary shares 
(representing approximately 10% of the Company’s issued share capital). Any shares purchased under this authority would either 
be treated as cancelled (and the number of shares in issue reduced accordingly) or held in treasury, available for re-sale by the 
Company or transfer to an employees’ share scheme.

This general authority, if approved, would expire on the date of the Company’s 2009 AGM or, if earlier, 18 months from the date 
the resolution is passed. The Directors presently intend that a resolution to renew this authority will be proposed at next year’s 
AGM and at each succeeding AGM.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps that he 
ought to have taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s 
auditors are aware of that information. 

Auditors
In accordance with Section 384 of the Companies Act 1985, a resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc as auditor 
of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board

M Collini 
Secretary
Belgrave House 
Hatfield Business Park 
Frobisher Way 
Hatfield 
Herts AL10 9TQ

21 August 2008
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and the financial statements 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent company financial statements, 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent company financial statements for each financial year.  
As required by the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange they are required to prepare the Group financial statements  
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable laws and have elected to prepare the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

The Group financial statements are required by law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position and  
the performance of the Group; the Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to such financial statements that references in the 
relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation. 

The parent company financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the parent company.

In preparing each of the Group and parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

•	 	select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently;	
•	 	make	judgments	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;	
•	 	for	the	Group	financial	statements,	state	whether	they	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	IFRSs	as	adopted	by	the	EU;	
•	 	for	the	parent	company	financial	statements,	state	whether	applicable	UK	Accounting	Standards	have	been	followed,	subject	

to any material departures disclosed and explained in the parent company financial statements; and 
•	 	prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	Group	and	the	

parent company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the parent company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
1985. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. Under applicable law, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a 
Directors’ Report that complies with that law.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 
Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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We have audited the Group and parent company financial statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of International Greetings PLC 
for the year ended 31 March 2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and Parent Company 
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes. 
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Directors’ Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and for preparing the parent 
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 16. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

The information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented in the Financial Review that is cross 
referred from the Business Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all  
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and 
other transactions is not disclosed. 

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices 
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation  
of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary  
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy 
of the presentation of information in the financial statements. 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

•	 	the	Group	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	in	accordance	with	IFRSs	as	adopted	by	the	EU,	of	the	state	 
of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of its loss for the year then ended; 

•	 	the	parent	company	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	in	accordance	with	UK	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	
Practice, of the state of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2008; 

•	 	the	financial	statements	have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	Companies	Act	1985;	and	
•	 	the	information	given	in	the	Directors’	Report	is	consistent	with	the	financial	statements.	

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants 
Registered Auditor

Marlborough House 
Fitzalan Court, Fitzalan Road 
Cardiff CF24 0TE 
United Kingdom

21 August 2008
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    2008   2007 

   Before  Significant Total Before Significant Total 
   significant items  Significant items  
   items (note 12)  items (note 12)  
  Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations

Revenue  4 194,168 – 194,168 196,718 – 196,718
Cost of sales   (148,366) (4,309) (152,675) (131,962) (897) (132,859)      
Gross profit   45,802 (4,309) 41,493 64,756 (897) 63,859
Distribution expenses   (16,041) (95) (16,136) (17,218) – (17,218)
Administration expenses   (30,096) (3,324) (33,420) (27,765) (355) (28,120)
Other operating income  9 617 257 874 823 2,240 3,063      
Operating (loss)/profit  6 282 (7,471) (7,189) 20,596 988 21,584
     
Finance expenses  10 (3,861) – (3,861) (3,158) – (3,158)
Finance income  10 – – – 265 – 265

Share of profit of associates (net of tax)  16 509 – 509 – – –      
(Loss)/profit before tax  6 (3,070) (7,471) (10,541) 17,703 988 18,691

Income tax credit/(charge)  11 1,591 1,287 2,878 (4,093) (214) (4,307)        
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations  (1,479) (6,184) (7,663) 13,610 774 14,384
     
Discontinued operations     
     
Loss from discontinued operations (net of tax) 13 (1,411) (2,964) (4,375) – – –     
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to equity    
holders of the parent company   (2,890) (9,148) (12,038) 13,610 774 14,384

(Loss)/earnings per ordinary share  29

Basic     (25.7p)   31.1p

Continuing operations     (16.4p)   31.1p
Discontinued operations     (9.3p)   –
     
Diluted     (25.7p)   30.6p

Continuing operations     (16.4p)   30.6p
Discontinued operations     (9.3p)   –

The notes on pages 22 to 68 form part of these financial statements.
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 Share Share Merger Retained Capital Hedging Translation Total equity 
 capital premium reserve earnings redemption reserve reserve attributable 
     reserve   to equity 
        holders of 
        the parent 
for the 12 months ended        company 
31 March 2008 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2007 2,317 2,515 13,416 65,246 1,340 – (2,997) 81,837

Effective portion of changes   
in fair value of cash flow hedges  
(net of tax) – – – – – (125) – (125)
Exchange adjustment – – – – – – 1,512 1,512

Net income recognised  
directly in equity – – – – – (125) 1,512 1,387 

Loss for the year – – – (12,038) – – – (12,038) 
Total income and expense   
recognised for the year – – – (12,038) – (125) 1,512 (10,651)

Dividends paid – – – (4,570) – – – (4,570)
Equity settled share-based payments – – – (213) – – – (213)
Shares issued 36 491 2,117 – – – – 2,644

Balance at 31 March 2008 2,353 3,006 15,533 48,425 1,340 (125) (1,485) 69,047

  Share Share Merger Retained Capital Translation Total equity 
  capital premium reserve earnings redemption reserve attributable 
      reserve  to equity 
        holders of  
        the parent 
for the 12 months ended        company 
31 March 2007  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2006  2,308 2,386 13,023 54,900 1,340 (399) 73,558
        
Exchange adjustment  – – – – – (2,598) (2,598)

Net income recognised directly  
in equity  – – – – – (2,598) (2,598) 
       
Profit for the year  – – – 14,384 – – 14,384

Total income and expense  
recognised for the year  – – – 14,384 – (2,598) 11,786 

Dividends paid  – – – (4,282) – – (4,282)
Equity settled share-based payments  – – – 244 – – 244
Shares issued  9 129 393 – – – 531

Balance at 31 March 2007  2,317 2,515 13,416 65,246 1,340 (2,997) 81,837

Merger reserve
The merger reserve comprises premium on shares issued in relation to business combinations.

Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve comprises amounts transferred from retained earnings in relation to the redemption  
of preference shares.

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging 
instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements  
of foreign operations.
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  2008 2007 
 Note £000 £000

Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 14 43,485 41,550
Intangible assets 15 35,544 28,485
Investment in associates 16 3,106 –
Deferred tax assets 17 4,169 –

Total non-current assets  86,304 70,035     
Current assets   
Inventory 18 56,990 48,577
Tax receivable  918 185
Trade and other receivables 19 33,779 40,526
Cash and cash equivalents 20 2,137 12,990
Assets classified as held for sale 13 1,718 20     
Total current assets  95,542 102,298     
Total assets 4 181,846 172,333     
Equity   
Share capital 27 2,353 2,317
Share premium  3,006 2,515
Reserves  15,263 11,759
Retained earnings  48,425 65,246     
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company  69,047 81,837     
Non-current liabilities   
Loans and borrowings 21 1,843 2,136
Deferred income 24 4,752 3,601
Provisions 26 1,345 1,345
Other financial liabilities 23 2,806 –
Deferred tax liabilities 17 – 586     
Total non-current liabilities  10,746 7,668     
Current liabilities   
Bank overdraft 20 64,898 48,557
Loans and borrowings 21 241 310
Deferred income 24 954 1,133
Provisions 26 510 –
Trade and other payables 22 21,698 16,140
Income tax liabilities  59 1,564
Other financial liabilities 23 13,693 15,124     
Total current liabilities  102,053 82,828     
Total liabilities 4 112,799 90,496     
Total equity and liabilities  181,846 172,333     

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 August 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

N Fisher M Collini
Director Director

The notes on pages 22 to 68 form part of the financial statements.
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  2008 2007 
 Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities   
(Loss)/profit for the year  (12,038) 14,384
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation  5,938 5,776
Impairment loss  821 –
Amortisation of intangible assets  221 100
Financial expenses  3,861 3,158
Finance income  – (265)
Share of profit of associates – continuing operations  (509) –
Share of loss of associates – discontinued operations  899 –
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment  (288) (2,240)
Equity settled share-based payment   (213) 244
Income tax (credit)/charge – continuing operations  (2,878) 4,307
Income tax (credit) – discontinued operations  (1,731) –
Impairment loss on discontinued associate included within assets held for sale  3,969 –
Negative goodwill recognised   (189) –
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains  (70) 265     
Operating (loss)/profit before changes in working capital and provisions  (2,207) 25,729
Change in trade and other receivables  7,834 (6,906)
Change in inventory  (3,222) (7,521)
Change in trade and other payables  3,834 1,419
Change in provisions and deferred income  (478) (1,832)     
Cash generated from operations  5,761 10,889
Interest paid  (4,191) (2,419)
Tax paid  (1,533) (3,024)     
Net cash inflow from operating activities  37 5,446     
Cash flows from investing activities   
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  5,114 95
Acquisition of subsidiary, including overdrafts acquired  (11,187) (16,776)
Acquisition of shares in associates  (8,252) –
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets  205 –
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (7,295) (11,723)
Acquisition of intangible assets  (155) (210)
Receipt of government grant  1,960 –
Receipts from sales of investments  20 45     
Net cash outflow from investing activities  (19,590) (28,569)     
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from the issue of share capital  – 101
Repayment of borrowings  (433) (89)
Payment of finance lease liabilities  (132) (280)
Dividends paid   (4,570) (4,282)     
Net cash outflow from financing activities   (5,135) (4,550)     
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (24,688) (27,673)     
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April  (35,567) (9,025)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  (2,506) 1,131     
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 20 (62,761) (35,567)     

The notes on pages 22 to 68 form part of these financial statements. 
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1 Accounting policies
International Greetings PLC is a company incorporated in the UK. 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)  
and equity account the Group’s interest in associates. The parent company financial statements present information about  
the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“Adopted IFRSs”). The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial 
statements in accordance with UK GAAP; these are presented on pages 61 to 68.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
Group financial statements and in preparing an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 April 2006 for the purposes of transition to 
Adopted IFRS.

Judgements made by the Directors in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial 
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in the policies below.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis notwithstanding the loss for the year of £12.0 million and 
net current liabilities at 31 March 2008 of £6.5 million. The Directors believe this to be appropriate because as in previous years, 
the Group relies primarily on an overdraft facility for its working capital needs and its principal bank has stated that, without 
prejudice to the on demand nature of the facility, it is their present intention that the facility will be made available until 31 August 
2009 when the continued availability and level of facilities will be reviewed. The bank has also confirmed, assuming the business 
continues to perform in line with expectations, that the facility will be renewed (at a level adequate to meet the Group’s funding 
requirements) on 31 August 2009. The Directors consider that this will enable the Company to continue to meet its liabilities  
as they fall due for payment. As with any company placing reliance on external entities for financial support, the Directors 
acknowledge that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although, at the date of approval of these financial 
statements, they have no reason to believe it will not do so.

Transition to Adopted IFRSs
The Group is preparing its financial statements in accordance with Adopted IFRSs for the first time and consequently has applied 
IFRS 1. An explanation of how the transition to Adopted IFRSs has affected the reported financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows of the Group is provided in note 35.

IFRS 1 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of Adopted IFRSs in the transition period. The following exemptions 
have been taken in these financial statements:

•	 	Business	combinations	–	business	combinations	that	took	place	prior	to	1	April	2006	have	not	been	restated;	and
•	 	Cumulative	translation	differences	–	the	cumulative	translation	differences	for	all	foreign	operations	are	deemed	to	be	nil 

at the date of the transition to IFRS.

Adopted IFRSs not yet applied 
The following Adopted IFRSs were endorsed and available for early application but have not been applied by the Group in  
these financial statements. Their adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements unless  
otherwise indicated:

•	 	IFRS	8	“Operating	Segments”	(mandatory	for	years	commencing	on	or	after	1	January	2009).	The	impact	of	this	standard	is	to	
change the way operating segments are presented in the financial statements. The standard requires disclosure of segment 
information based on the internal reports regularly reviewed by Management in order to assess each segment’s performance 
and to allocate resources to them. Currently the Group presents segment information in respect of its geographical segments 
(see note 4).
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1 Accounting policies continued 
Measurement convention
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial instruments used for hedging and deferred 
cash consideration amounts due are stated at their fair value. 

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights 
that are currently exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Associates
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. 
Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20–50% of the voting power of another entity. 
Associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted investees) and are initially recognised at cost. The 
Group’s investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition. The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share  
of the total recognised income and expense and equity movements of equity accounted investees, from the date that significant 
influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an 
equity accounted investee, the Group’s carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except 
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an investee.

Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the Group’s and Company’s presentational currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling 
at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated 
at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at 
an average rate for the period where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations, and of related qualifying hedges, are taken directly to the 
translation reserve. They are released into the income statement upon disposal. Exchange differences arising from a monetary 
item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable 
future, are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the translation 
reserve. Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are 
recognised directly in equity, in the translation reserve, to the extent that the hedge is effective. When the hedged part of a net 
investment is disposed of, the associated cumulative amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the profit 
or loss on disposal.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group
Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity (i.e. forming part of shareholders’ funds) only to the extent that 
they meet the following two conditions: 

(a)  they include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial assets 
or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group; and 

(b)  where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes 
no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the 
Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument 
so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for called 
up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares. 
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1 Accounting policies continued  
Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, 
and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of 
the cash flow statement.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss 
depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see below).

Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability,  
or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised 
directly in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the 
associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging reserve and is included in the initial cost or other carrying amount 
of the non-financial asset or liability. When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset 
or non-financial liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss remains in the hedging reserve and is reclassified into profit or loss 
in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss, i.e. when a non-financial 
asset is depreciated.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the associated 
gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into profit or loss in the same period or periods during 
which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss, i.e. when interest income or expense is recognised.

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated cumulative gain or loss 
is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast 
transaction affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship 
but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is 
recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to 
take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement immediately.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
of property, plant and equipment.

Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are classified as 
finance leases. Where land and buildings are held under finance leases the accounting treatment of the land is considered 
separately from that of the buildings. Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease are stated at an amount equal to the lower 
of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. Lease payments are accounted for as described below.
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1 Accounting policies continued
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item 
of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

•	 	freehold	buildings	 25	years;
•	 	leasehold	land	and	buildings	 life	of	lease;
•	 	plant	and	equipment	 4–10	years;
•	 	fixtures	and	fittings	 3–5	years;	and
•	 	motor	vehicles	 4	years.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

Intangible assets and goodwill
Subject to the transitional relief in IFRS 1, all business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Goodwill 
represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries. In respect of business acquisitions that have occurred since 1 April 
2006, goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
acquired. Identifiable intangibles are those which can be sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether 
those rights are separable.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not 
amortised but is tested annually for impairment. In respect of associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment in the associate.

In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 April 2006, goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the amount 
recorded under UK GAAP which was broadly comparable save that only separable intangibles were recognised and goodwill 
was amortised. 

Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated. If the cost of an acquisition is less than the 
fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Other intangible assets
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

The main classes of intangible assets are computer software and publishing imprints.

Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless 
such lives are indefinite. The estimated useful life of computer software ranges between three and five years. Other intangible 
assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are ten years.
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1 Accounting policies continued  
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured 
inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

For goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. 
A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent  
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Goodwill was tested for impairment as at 1 April 2006, the date of transition to Adopted IFRSs, even though no indication  
of impairment existed.

Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of the Group’s investments in held-to-maturity securities and receivables carried at amortised cost is 
calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security or receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent 
increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as available for sale is not reversed through profit 
or loss. If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to 
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist 
and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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1 Accounting policies continued
Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. A provision for restructuring 
is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formed restructuring plan and announced its main provisions. If the 
effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting 
is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as borrowing costs.

Revenue recognition
Revenue represents the amounts, net of discounts, allowances volume and promotional rebates and other payments to 
customers (excluding value added tax) derived from the provision of goods and services to customers during the year. Sales 
of goods are recognised when a Group entity has despatched products to the customer, legal title has passed and the 
collectability of the related receivable is reasonably assured.

Significant items
Significant items are those items of financial performance which, because of size or incidence, require separate disclosure 
to enable underlying performance to be assessed.

Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 
Classification as discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as  
held for sale, if earlier.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative income statement is represented as if the operation 
had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period.

Government grants
Capital based government grants are included within other financial liabilities in the balance sheet and credited to operating profit 
over the estimated useful economic lives of the assets to which they relate.

Expenses
Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Finance lease payments
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability.

Finance income and expenses
Finance expenses comprises interest payable, finance charges on finance leases, unwinding of the discount on provisions, and 
net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the income statement (see foreign currency accounting policy). Finance income 
comprises interest receivable on funds invested, dividend income, and net foreign exchange gains.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Dividend 
income is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is established. Foreign currency 
gains and losses are reported on a net basis.



International Greetings PLC 
Annual Report 2008
Notes continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

28/

1 Accounting policies continued  
Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at  
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial 
recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in  
a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse  
in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of  
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
asset can be utilised. 

Dividend distribution
Final dividends to shareholders of International Greetings Plc are recognised as a liability in the period that they are approved 
by shareholders.

Employee benefits
Pension costs
The Group operates a defined contribution personal pension scheme. The assets of this scheme are held separately from those of 
the Group in an independently administered fund. The pension charge represents contributions payable by the Group to the fund.

The Netherlands subsidiary operates an Industrial defined benefit fund. The employees have a defined benefit based on average 
wages. The pension fund is a multi-employer pension fund and there is no contractual agreement for charging the net defined 
benefit cost of the plan to participating entities; accordingly the Group has taken advantage of the multi-employer exemption. 
The Group recognises a cost equal to its contributions payable for the period.

Share-based payment transactions
The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted 
is measured using an option valuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture
is due only to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.
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2 Critical accounting judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that 
have had a significant bearing on the financial statements in the current year or could have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Share based payments
Note 25 – measurement of share based payments.

Goodwill
Note 15 – measurement of the recoverable amounts of the cash generating units containing goodwill.

Taxation
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Significant judgement is 
required in determining the Group’s tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets have been recognised to the extent they are 
recoverable based on profit projections for future years. Income tax liabilities for anticipated issues have been recognised based 
on estimates of whether additional tax will be due. Notwithstanding the above, the Group believes that it will fully recover all tax 
assets and has adequate provision to cover all risks across all business operations.

Discontinued operations
The results of the Group’s investment in Halloween Express, a seasonal retail business and the related UK seasonal retail business 
have been classed as discontinued in these financial statements because the operations were terminated prior to the year-end, 
they represented the only retail operations of the Group and together represented a significant proportion of the Group’s result.

3 Financial risk management
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. 
The Group’s risk management policies and procedures are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to  
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management processes are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 

The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors risks and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. 

The Group has exposure to the following risks:

•	 	Credit	risk;
•	 	Liquidity	risk;	and
•	 	Market	risk.

See note 30 for additional information about the Group’s exposure to each of these risks and the ways in which these are managed.

4 Segmental information
Segmental information is presented in respect of the Group’s geographical segments which are the primary basis of 
segmental reporting.

Geographical analysis
The results below are allocated based on the region in which the businesses are located; this reflects the Group’s management 
and internal reporting structure. 
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4 Segmental information continued 
Intra segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis. Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment  
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

 UK, Europe & Asia US Eliminations Group 
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Year ended 31 March 2008    
Continuing operations    
Revenue – external 158,659 35,509 – 194,168
 – intra segment 1,045 – (1,045) –        
Total segment revenue 159,704 35,509 (1,045) 194,168        
Segment result before significant items 
and discontinued operations (784) 997 69 282
Significant items (6,531) (940) – (7,471)

Segment result from continuing operations (7,315) 57 69 (7,189)
Pre-tax (loss) from discontinued operations (1,237) – – (1,237)        
Segment result (8,552) 57 69 (8,426)        
Pre-tax loss from discontinued operations    1,237
Net finance expenses    (3,861)
Share of profit of associates    509
Income tax    2,878        
Loss from continuing operations    (7,663)        
Reconciliation of segment result from discontinued  
operations to loss on discontinued operations
Pre-tax loss from discontinued operations (1,237) – – (1,237)
Tax on loss from discontinued operations 370 – – 370
Loss on discontinued associate – (3,508) – (3,508)        
Loss from discontinued operations (867) (3,508) – (4,375)        
Balances at 31 March 2008    
Continuing operations    
Segment assets 142,028 36,665 (1,671) 177,022
Investment in associate 3,106 – – 3,106        
Segment assets from continuing operations 145,134 36,665 (1,671) 180,128
Segment assets from discontinued operations – 1,718 – 1,718     
Segment assets 145,134 38,383 (1,671) 181,846     
Segment liabilities  (74,880) (38,155) 236 (112,799)        
 
Capital expenditure    
– property, plant and equipment 6,090 1,205 – 7,295
– intangible 72 83 – 155
    
Depreciation 5,111 827 – 5,938
Amortisation 140 81 – 221
Impairment 821 – – 821        
Year ended 31 March 2007    
Revenue – external 171,500 25,218 – 196,718

– intra Group 1,158 – (1,158) –        
Total segment revenue 172,658 25,218 (1,158) 196,718        
Segment result before significant items 19,372 1,539 (315) 20,596
Significant items 988 – – 988

Segment result from continuing operations 20,360 1,539 (315) 21,584        
Net finance expenses    (2,893)
Income tax    (4,307)

Profit from continuing operations    14,384
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4 Segmental information continued 
 UK, Europe & Asia US Eliminations Group 
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balances at 31 March 2007    
Segment assets 151,844 22,760 (2,271) 172,333   

Segment liabilities (83,637) (7,431) 572 (90,496)        
    
Capital expenditure    
– property, plant and equipment 8,862 3,924 – 12,786
– intangible 53 208 – 261
Depreciation 5,148 628 – 5,776
Amortisation 73 27 – 100

Geographical analysis of turnover by destination
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

UK 94,198 119,043
US 49,812 45,140
Europe 46,528 29,971
Rest of the world 3,630 2,564    
 194,168 196,718    

Market sector analysis
The Group has one material business segment being the design and manufacture of greetings and related products.

5 Acquisition of subsidiaries
(a)  On 19 November 2003, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Hoomark Gift-Wrap Partners BV. The 

purchase agreement provided for future payments of deferred consideration, based on Hoomark’s profits for the three years 
ended 31 March 2007. 

  During the year ended 31 March 2008 a final payment of £926,000 for the acquisition of Hoomark Gift-Wrap Partners BV was 
paid in cash which was £334,000 higher than the estimated deferred consideration at 31 March 2007. 

(b)  On 6 April 2006, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Alligator Books Ltd (“Alligator”), a publisher and 
distributor of children’s books and stationery. Initial consideration of £2,569,000 (including costs) was paid, £2,319,000 in cash 
and £250,000 by the issue of 62,703 new ordinary shares.

 The book value and fair value of assets acquired were as follows:
 
   £000

Acquiree’s net assets at the acquisition date
Intangible assets   3
Property, plant and equipment   52
Inventories   1,375
Trade and other receivables   1,569
Cash   68
Bank overdraft   (1,839)
Creditors   (1,004)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities   224
Goodwill on acquisition   6,445
Total consideration   6,669

Total consideration consists of:    
– Total amount paid in cash (including costs)   4,169
– Consideration through issue of shares   1,750
– Deferred consideration   750

   6,669

Total amount paid in cash   1,750
Cash and overdraft acquired   1,839

Net cash outflow   3,589
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5 Acquisition of subsidiaries continued

  At 31 March 2007 the future consideration payable was estimated at £3,660,000 of which up to 100% was payable by the 
issuance of new ordinary shares at the Company’s option. During the year ended 31 March 2008 a payment of £3.35 million 
was made, £1.8 million in cash and £1.5 million by the issue of 366,505 new ordinary shares. Further additional consideration 
of £750,000 is expected to become payable in August 2009 and has been included in the cost of investment.

(c)  On 4 April 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Weltec Holding BV (“Weltec”), a distributor of 
photographic frames based in Holland for £329,000, paid in cash and directly attributable costs incurred of £55,000. 

  During the year, Weltec was merged into the operations of Anchor International BV and for the period from acquisition to 
31 March 2008, it is estimated it contributed a loss of £450,000, after restructuring costs of £490,000.

  Draft unaudited accounts of Weltec Holdings BV for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006 reflected revenue of €5.1 million, 
operating loss of €199,000, write-off of intra Group debt of €1.16 million, finance expenses of €135,000, resulting in a loss 
before tax of €1,494,000.

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities.
 Pre-acquisition Fair Fair 
 carrying amount value value 
  adjustments at date of  
   acquisition 
 £000 £000 £000

Acquiree’s net assets at the acquisition date:
Property, plant and equipment 38 – 38
Intangible assets 58 – 58
Inventories 618 – 618
Trade and other receivables 870 – 870
Cash 21 – 21
Bank overdraft (1,021) – (1,021)
Trade and other payables (522) – (522)      
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 62 – 62
Goodwill on acquisition   322    
Total amount paid (including costs)   384
Cash and overdraft acquired   1,000    
Net cash outflow   1,384    

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on local management unaudited financial statements immediately 
before the acquisition, and are considered to represent fair values.

The goodwill recognised is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the operation into the 
Group’s existing business.

(d)  On 10 May 2007, the Group acquired the business and assets of Pinwheel Ltd (in administration), a publisher of children’s 
books. Total consideration of £417,000 was paid in cash and directly attributable costs incurred of £21,000.

  During the year, Pinwheel was merged into the operations of Alligator Books and for the period from acquisition to 31 March 
2008 it is estimated it contributed a profit before tax of £155,000, after restructuring costs of £118,000.

  The latest unaudited draft accounts for the 12 months ended 31 March 2006 reflected turnover of £4.1 million, operating loss 
of £46,000 and interest payable of £4,000, resulting in a loss before tax of £50,000.
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5 Acquisition of subsidiaries continued  
The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities:

 Pre-acquisition Fair value Fair value 
 carrying adjustments at date of 
 amounts  acquisition 
 £000 £000 £000

Acquiree’s net assets at the acquisition date  
Intangibles – 679 679
Inventories 193 – 193
Trade and other receivables 557 – 557
Trade and other payables (803) – (803)      
Net identifiable assets and liabilities (53) 679 626
Goodwill on acquisition   (188)    
Total amount paid (including costs) and net cash outflow   438    

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on unaudited management information provided by the administrator. 
The values of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are considered to represent fair values.

Negative goodwill on the acquisition is considered to have arisen as the price paid reflected the fact that the business had been 
in administration and has been included within administration costs in the income statement.

(e)  On 17 May 2007, the Group acquired the business and assets of Przedsiebiorstwp Produckcyjno-Hanlowo-Uslugowe Artex 
(“Artex”), a supplier of gift wrap and greetings products based in Poland, for consideration of £603,000 paid in cash and 
directly attributable costs incurred amounted to £18,000. 

  For the period from acquisition to 31 March 2008, it contributed a profit of £70,000. Unaudited management information 
of Artex, for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006, reflected revenue of 3.64 million zlotys and profit before tax of 
737,000 zlotys.

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities.

 Pre-acquisition Fair Fair 
 carrying amount value value 
   adjustments at date of  
   acquisition 
 £000 £000 £000

Acquiree’s net assets at the acquisition date   
Property, plant and equipment 11 – 11
Inventories 274 – 274
Trade and other payables (79) – (79)      
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 206 – 206
Goodwill on acquisition   415    
Total amount paid (including costs)   621
Cash and overdraft acquired   –    
Net cash outflow   621    

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on local management unaudited financial statements immediately 
before the acquisition, and are considered to represent fair values.
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5 Acquisition of subsidiaries continued

The goodwill recognised is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the operation into the 
Group’s existing business.

(f)  On 4 September 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Glitterwrap Inc, a supplier of giftware and party 
ware products based in the US. Initial consideration of £1.295 million was paid, £635,000 in cash and £660,000 by the issue of 
232,024 new ordinary shares. Directly attributable costs of £178,000 were incurred.

  Additional deferred consideration of £2.816 million is payable, with up to £1.771 million payable by the issue of new ordinary 
shares. Of the £2.816 million payable, £914,000 is payable in August 2008, £1.163 million is payable in August 2009 and 
£739,000 is payable in August 2010.

  During the year, Glitterwrap was merged into the operations of Hysil Manufacturing Co Inc and for the period from acquisition 
to 31 March 2008 it is estimated it contributed a loss before tax of £507,000, after restructuring costs of £376,000. Audited 
accounts of Glitterwrap Inc for the 12 months ended 31 December 2006 reflected turnover of $31.5 million, operating profit 
of $2 million and interest payable of $1.4 million, resulting in a profit before tax of $600,000.

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities.
 Pre-acquisition Provisional fair Provisional fair 
 carrying amount value value 
   adjustments at date of  
   acquisition 
 £000 £000 £000

Acquiree’s net assets at the acquisition date:   
Property, plant and equipment 1,110 (575) 535
Inventories 3,890 (1,793) 2,097
Trade and other receivables 2,517 (126) 2,391
Bank overdraft (5,127) – (5,127)
Trade and other payables (1,153) – (1,153)
Deferred tax asset/(liability) (257) 700 443      
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 980 (1,794) (814)
Goodwill on acquisition   5,103    
Total consideration   4,289    
    
Total consideration consists of:    
– Total amount paid in cash (including costs)   813
– Consideration through issue of shares   660
– Deferred consideration   2,816    
   4,289    
   
Total amount paid in cash   813
Cash and overdraft acquired   5,127    
Net cash outflow   5,940

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on local management unaudited financial statements immediately 
before the acquisition. The values of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair values.

The goodwill recognised is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the operations into the 
Group’s existing business.
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6 Expenses and auditors’ remuneration
Included in profit/loss are the following charges/(credits):
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Depreciation 5,938 5,776
Release of deferred grant income (note 9) (586) (823)
Amortisation of intangible assets 221 100
Negative goodwill (188) –
Impairment of plant and equipment 821 –
Operating lease costs 6,104 5,415
Increase in stock provision 4,353 704    

Auditors’ remuneration:
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of these financial statements 80 39
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation  
– Overseas subsidiaries 61 27
– UK subsidiaries 85 68
Other services relating to taxation 50 76
Services relating to corporate finance transactions entered into or proposed  
to be entered into by or on behalf of the Company or the Group 150 24
All other services 4 (47)    

Amounts paid to the Company’s auditor in respect of services to the Company, other than the audit of the Company’s financial 
statements, have not been disclosed as the information is required to be disclosed on a consolidated basis.

The credit in 2007 for all other services relates to charges for work undertaken in 2006 in connection with the relocation of the 
Group’s Chinese factory.

7 Staff numbers and costs
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year, analysed by category, was  
as follows:

 Number of employees

 2008 2007

Administration, sales and distribution 808 869
Production 2,088 2,049    
 2,896 2,918    

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:
 £000 £000

Wages and salaries 38,217 35,277
Share based payments (see note 25) (213) 244
Social security costs 3,927 3,732
Other pension costs 891 734    
 42,822 39,987    
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8 Remuneration of Directors

 Aggregate for all Directors Highest paid Director        
 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Remuneration excluding bonuses 1,154 1,116 242 238
Annual bonus payments – 540 – 135        
Total remuneration 1,154 1,656 242 373        
Pension contributions to personal money purchase schemes  
(in respect of four Directors for both years) 75 75 21 21        

Information on share options held by Directors is shown in the Directors’ Report. 

9 Other operating income
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 228 2,240
Grant income received 586 823    
 874 3,063    

10 Finance expenses and income
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Finance expenses
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 3,630 2,551
Finance charges in respect of finance leases 7 25
Other similar charges 154 181
Net foreign exchange loss 70 –
Movement in financial derivatives at fair value through profit or loss – 401    
 3,861 3,158    
Finance income
Net foreign exchange gain – (265)    
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11 Taxation

Recognised in the income statement
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Current tax expense
Current year – UK corporation tax (140) 2,271
Current year – foreign tax – 1,591
Adjustments for prior years (260) (175)    
 (400) 3,687
Deferred tax expense  
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,690) 527
Reduction in tax 134 –
Adjustments in respect of previous periods 78 93    
 (2,478) 620    
Total tax in income statement (2,878) 4,307    

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

(Loss)/profit before tax (10,541) 18,691    
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%) (3,162) 5,607
  
Expenses not deductible for corporation tax purposes 203 160
Tax deductions for gains on employee share options – (21)
Adjustments to deferred tax assets on discontinuance of business 190 –
Adjustments to deferred tax liabilities in respect of rolled-over gains – (227)
Non-taxable income (30) (88)
Differences between the accounting and tax cost of capital assets disposed – (113)
Adjustments to UK deferred tax assets and liabilities to reflect  
the reduction in corporation tax rate to 28% 134 – 
Difference between UK and overseas tax rates  (31) (929)
(Over) provided in prior years (182) (82)    
Total tax in income statement (2,878) 4,307    

Factors that may affect future tax charges
From 1 April 2008, the rate of UK corporation tax will reduce from 30% to 28% and the rate of capital allowances available for 
plant and machinery will reduce from 25% to 20%. Industrial buildings allowances will also be phased out over a three-year  
period from this date. These changes are not expected to have a significant effect on the Group’s future tax charges.

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries. As the earnings are continually reinvested  
by the Group, no tax is expected to be payable on them for the foreseeable future.
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12 Significant items
 Cost of  Distribution Administration Other operating Total 
 sales expenses expenses income  
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2008 Continuing operations       

UK restructuring (see note below) 1,507 95 1,085 – 2,687
Latvia closure (see note below) 1,988 – 1,185 – 3,173
Integration of acquisitions (see note below) 814 – 735 – 1,549 
Aborted acquisition costs – – 319 – 319
Profit on disposal of property, plant  
and equipment – – – (257) (257)

 4,309 95 3,324 (257) 7,471

2007 Continuing operations      

UK restructuring (see note below) 897 – 355 – 1,252
Profit on disposal of property, plant   
and equipment – – – (2,240) (2,240)

 897 – 355 (2,240) (988)

UK restructuring costs relate primarily to the integration of the Group’s UK Christmas gift wrap, cracker and cards operations into 
one division and rationalisation changes in order to maintain competitiveness. The costs consist primarily of losses on impairment 
and disposal of property, plant and equipment, stock write-downs and personnel-related costs.

Latvia closure costs relate to the closure of the Group’s Latvian production facility and the resulting transfer of equipment and 
production to other parts of the Group. The costs consist primarily of losses on impairment and disposal of property, plant and 
equipment, and stock write-downs, machinery relocation and personnel-related costs.

The costs of integration of acquisitions relate to the integration of Glitterwrap, Pinwheel and Weltec (see note 5) into the Group’s 
existing operations. The costs consist primarily of range rationalisation and personnel-related costs.
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13 Discontinued operations
UK seasonal retail and internet
After Christmas, the Group discontinued its entire UK seasonal retail and internet division. This division has been established 
during the course of the year, but was discontinued due to not meeting expectations.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, this division had cash outflows from operating activities of £715,000 and cash outflows 
from financing activities of £15,000.

Halloween Express
On 27 July 2007, the Group acquired 50% of the issued share capital of Halloween Express Inc, a franchise retailer of Halloween 
products based in the US. Initial consideration of £1,373,000 was paid through a combination of cash and the issue of 119,948 
new ordinary shares.

During the year further sums totalling £5,514,000 were paid to Halloween Express in order to fund its operations. The Group’s 
share of the associate’s losses was £899,000, net of tax.

After Christmas, management took the decision to discontinue their investment in the Company on the grounds that it was not 
performing to expectations. The carrying value of the investment was written-down to the estimated recoverable amount of 
£1,718,000 and this is being held within assets held for sale.
 UK seasonal Associate Total 
 retail investment in  
  Halloween  
  Express  
 2008 2008 2008 
 £000 £000 £000

Revenue 580 – 580
Expenses (1,311) – (1,311)      
Operating loss before significant items (731) – (731)
Share of loss of associate – (899) (899)
Income tax credit 219 – 219      
(Loss) after tax before significant items (512) (899) (1,411)
Significant items (net of tax) (355) (2,609) (2,964)      
(Loss) for the year (867) (3,508) (4,375)       

The UK seasonal retail significant items relate to the closure of the operation and consist primarily of stock write-downs and 
personnel-related costs. The Halloween Express significant item related to the write-down of the Group’s investment in the 
associate. The tax credits in relation to the significant items £152,000 and £1,360,000 respectively.
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14 Property, plant and equipment 
 Land and buildings 

Plant and Fixtures and Motor Total
 Freehold Leasehold equipment fittings vehicles  
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
Balance at 1 April 2006 18,177 3,352 36,787 5,017 1,658 64,991
Acquisitions through business combinations – – 42 27 24 93
Additions 1,455 3,397 6,891 625 418 12,786
Disposals (1,565) – (658) (418) (213) (2,854)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (179) (319) (964) (178) (11) (1,651)

Balance at 31 March 2007 17,888 6,430 42,098 5,073 1,876 73,365

Balance at 1 April 2007 17,888 6,430 42,098 5,073 1,876 73,365
Acquisitions through business combinations – – 11 573 – 584
Additions 2,271 497 4,090 344 93 7,295
Disposals (173) (33) (2,671) (155) (531) (3,563)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 959 85 1,691 147 41 2,923

Balance at 31 March 2008 20,945 6,979 45,219 5,982 1,479 80,604

Depreciation and impairment       
Balance at 1 April 2006 4,423 691 19,344 2,811 763 28,032
Depreciation charge for the year 675 351 3,506 846 398 5,776
Disposals (223) – (608) (391) (172) (1,394)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (3) (71) (397) (125) (3) (599)

Balance at 31 March 2007 4,872 971 21,845 3,141 986 31,815

Balance at 1 April 2007 4,872 971 21,845 3,141 986 31,815
Depreciation charge for the year 779 412 3,352 1,005 390 5,938
Disposals – (33) (1,546) (347) (411) (2,337)
Impairment loss – – 821 – – 821
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 41 22 748 48 23 882

Balance at 31 March 2008 5,692 1,372 25,220 3,847 988 37,119

Net book value      
At 1 April 2006 13,754 2,661 17,443 2,206 895 36,959

At 31 March 2007  13,016 5,459 20,253 1,932 890 41,550

At 31 March 2008  15,253 5,607 19,999 2,135 491 43,485

Leased plant and machinery
The net book value of property, plant and equipment included an amount of £348,000 (2007: £472,000) in respect of assets held 
under finance leases.

Impairment losses
The impairment loss relates to the write of plant and equipment following the closure of the Group’s production facility in Latvia.  
The loss has been included within cost of goods sold in the income statement.

Security
At 31 March 2008 freehold properties with a carrying amount of £8,729,000 (2007: £7,511,000) are subject to a fixed charge.



International Greetings PLC 
Annual Report 2008
Notes continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

/41

15 Intangible assets 
 Goodwill Computer Other Total 
  software intangibles  
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
Balance at 1 April 2006 23,830 847 – 24,677
Acquisitions through business combinations (note 5) 6,830 – – 6,830
Additions – 261 – 261
Disposals – (51) – (51)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (18) (10) – (28)        
Balance at 31 March 2007 30,642 1,047 – 31,689        
Balance at 1 April 2007 30,642 1,047 – 31,689
Acquisitions through business combinations (note 5) 5,840 – 737 6,577
Adjustment in respect of previous acquisitions (see note below) 788 – – 788
Additions – 155  155
Disposals  –  (205) (205)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (35) – – (35)        
Balance at 31 March 2008 37,235 1,202 532 38,969        
Amortisation and impairment     
Balance at 1 April 2006 2,491 672 – 3,163
Amortisation for the year – 100  100
Disposals – (51) – (51)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (2) (6) – (8)        
Balance at 31 March 2007 2,489 715 – 3,204        
Balance at 1 April 2007 2,489 715 – 3,204
Amortisation for the year – 168 53 221
Effect of movements in foreign exchange – – – –        
Balance at 31 March 2008 2,489 883 53 3,425        
Net book value    
At 1 April 2006 21,339 175 – 21,514        
At 31 March 2007 28,153 332 – 28,485        
At 31 March 2008 34,746 319 479 35,544        

The adjustment in respect of previous acquisitions arose as a result of an increase of £440,000 in the estimated deferred 
consideration payments relating to the acquisition of Alligator Books Limited in July 2006, an increase of £334,000 in the 
estimated deferred consideration payments relating to the acquisition of Hoomark Gift-Wrap Partners BV in November 2003  
and £14,000 additional legal costs incurred relating to the acquisition of Eick Pack Werner Eick GmbH & Co.
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15 Intangible assets continued 
Impairment testing for cash generating units containing goodwill
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill considered significant in comparison to the Group’s total carrying amount of 
such assets has been allocated to the subsidiary to which it relates, which represents the lowest level within the Group at which 
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each unit are as follows:
  Goodwill

 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Anker International PLC 16,410 16,410
Alligator Books Ltd 6,445 6,005
Glitterwrap Inc 5,103 –    
 27,958 22,415
Multiple units without significant goodwill 6,788 5,738    
 34,746 28,153    

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units are determined from the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. 
For all of the cash generating units, value in use was determined to be higher, thus this was used as the recoverable amount. 
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates and growth rates. 

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management and 
extrapolates cash flows based on an estimated growth rate of 3% over a period of ten years. The discount rate of 15% is based  
on a prudent estimate of the Group’s future average weighted cost of capital.

16 Equity accounted associates
The associate undertakings of the Group are as follows:

On 3 October 2007, the Group acquired 50% of the ordinary shares in Artwrap Pty Limited, a designer and distributor of gift  
wrap and greetings products based in Australia. Initial consideration of £1,701,000 was paid in cash, with additional deferred 
consideration of up to £806,000 payable in August 2008.

The Group’s share of profit in Artwrap for the period was £509,000 (net of tax) (2007: £nil).

Summary aggregated financial information is summarised below (100%).
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Assets 5,151 –
Liabilities (900) –
Revenues 7,277 –
Profit (net of tax) 1,018 –
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17 Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

 Assets Liabilities Net

 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment (457) (351) 1,280 1,139 823 788
Derivative instruments (53) (89) – – (53) (89)
Inventories (965) (164) – – (965) (164)
Capital gains deferred – – 971 1,041 971 1,041
Deferred lease premium (302) (444) – – (302) (444)
Provisions (645) (433) – – (645) (433)
Tax loss carried forward  (4,138) (100) – – (4,138) (100)
Stock options – (114) – – – (114)
Other timing differences (44) (50) 184 151 140 101

Net tax (assets)/liabilities (6,604) (1,745) 2,435 2,331 (4,169) 586

The deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses carried forward at 31 March 2008 of £4,138,000 is comprised of UK and US tax 
losses of £2,430,000 and £1,708,000 respectively. The deferred tax assets have been recognised as the Board considers there is
sufficient evidence that taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. The deferred tax asset 
in respect of tax losses carried forward at 31 March 2007 related to tax losses carried forward by the Group’s Latvian businesses. 
These have been written-off in the current year as a result of the Latvian businesses being discontinued.

UK deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recorded at 28% being the rate of corporation tax which will apply from  
1 April 2008.

Movement in deferred tax during the year
 1 April  Acquired with Recognised Recognised 31 March 
 2007 subsidiary in income in equity 2008 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment 788 – 35 – 823
Derivative instruments (89) – 89 (53) (53)
Inventories (164) (443) (358) – (965)
Capital gains deferred 1,041 – (70) – 971
Deferred lease premium (444) – 142 – (302)
Provisions (433) – (212) – (645)
Tax loss carried forward (100) – (3,988) (50) (4,138)
Stock options (114) – 114 – –
Other timing differences 101 – 39 – 140

Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities 586 (443) (4,209) (103) (4,169)

Amounts included in discontinued operations   1,731  

Deferred tax credit relating to continuing  
operations (note 11)   (2,478)  
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17 Deferred tax assets and liabilities continued
Movement in deferred tax during the prior year
 1 April Acquired with Recognised Recognised 31 March 
 2006 subsidiary in income in equity 2007 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment 692 – 162 (66) 788
Derivative instruments 32 – (121) – (89)
Inventories (154) – (22) 12 (164)
Capital gains deferred 597 – 444 – 1,041
Deferred lease premium (566) – 122 – (444)
Provisions (447) – 5 9 (433)
Tax losses carried forward (96) – (4) – (100)
Stock options (68) – (46) – (114)
Other timing differences 21 – 80 – 101

 11 – 620 (45) 586

18 Inventory
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Raw materials and consumables 17,080 14,950
Work in progress 7,630 4,074
Finished goods 32,280 29,553    
 56,990 48,577 

Included within inventories is £3,136,000 (2007: £4,286,000) expected to be recovered in more than 12 months. The write-down 
of inventories to net realisable value amounted to £7,810,000 (2007: £3,738,000). The reversal of previous write-downs amounted 
to £3,457,000 (2007: £3,034,000).

In 2008 materials and consumables and changes in finished goods and work in progress recognised as cost of sales amounted 
to £114,011,000 (2007: £101,088,000).

19 Trade and other receivables
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Trade receivables 25,999 27,390
Prepayments and accrued income 6,287 4,787
Other receivables 1,493 8,349    
 33,779 40,526 

Included within trade receivables is £nil (2007: £nil) expected to be recovered in more than 12 months.

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 30.
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20 Cash and cash equivalents/bank overdrafts
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents per balance sheet 2,137 12,990
Bank overdrafts (64,898) (48,557)    
Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statement (62,761) (35,567) 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 30.

The bank overdrafts are secured by a fixed charge on certain of the Group’s land and buildings, a fixed charge on certain of the 
Group’s book debts and a floating charge on certain of the Group’s other assets.

21 Loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more 
information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 30.
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Non-current liabilities  
Secured bank loans 1,612 1,887
Other loans 203 173
Finance lease liabilities 28 76    
 1,843 2,136    
Current liabilities  
Current portion of secured bank loans 193 178
Current portion of finance lease liabilities 48 132    
 241 310 

Terms and debt repayment schedule 
 2008 2007 
Repayment analysis of bank loan and finance leases £000 £000

Due within one year
 Secured bank loans (see below) 193 178
 Other bank loans and overdrafts 64,898 48,557
 Finance leases 48 132

Due between one and two years:
 Secured bank loans (see below) 193 386
 Finance leases 13 48

Due between two and five years:
 Secured bank loans (see below) 579 424
 Other loans  203 173
 Finance leases 15 28

Due after more than five years:
 Secured bank loan (see below) 840 1,077

  66,982 51,003

Secured bank loans
Loan 1
The principal of £891,000 (2007: £1,001,000) is repayable monthly on a reducing balance basis over a 15 year period, ending 
in March 2016. The loan is secured over the freehold land and buildings and the contents therein of Hysil Manufacturing Co Inc, 
and is subject to a variable rate of interest linked to LIBOR.

Loan 2
The principal of £914,000 (2007: £1,064,000) is repayable monthly on a reducing balance basis over a 9 year period ending in 
March 2016. The loan is secured over the freehold land and buildings and the content therein of Hysil Manufacturing Co. Inc. and 
is subject to a variable rate of interested linked to LIBOR.
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21 Loans and borrowings continued 
Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

 Minimum Interest Principal Minimum Interest Principal 
 lease   lease   
 payments   payments   
 2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Less than one year 50 (2) 48 140 (8) 132
Between one and five years 29 (1) 28 79 (3) 76
More than five years – – – – – – 
 79 (3) 76 219 (11) 208

22 Trade and other payables
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Trade payables  20,580 14,784
Other payables including social security 1,118 1,356    
 21,698 16,140

23 Other financial liabilities
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Included within non-current liabilities  
Deferred acquisition payments 2,806 – 

 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Included within current liabilities  
Deferred acquisition payments 1,745 4,252
Other creditors and accruals 11,770 10,577
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 295
Financial liabilities at fair value through hedging reserve 178 –    
 13,693 15,124

24 Deferred income
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Included within non-current liabilities  
Deferred grant income 4,078 2,524
Lease premium 674 1,077    
 4,752 3,601 

 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Included within current liabilities  
Deferred grant income 550 730
Lease premium 404 403    
 954 1,133    
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25 Share based payments
Options
Options to subscribe for ordinary shares have been granted, pursuant to the Company’s unapproved Employee Share Option 
Scheme, which are exercisable at dates ranging up to April 2013. At 31 March 2008, outstanding options were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares Exercise price (p) Exercise dates

 204,000 185.0 July 2003 – July 2009
 10,000 230.0 May 2003 – May 2009
 12,500 212.0 February 2004 – February 2010
 265,000 185.0 April 2004 – April 2010
 150,000 188.0 April 2004 – April 2010
 865,000 220.0 July 2004 – July 2010
 45,000 252.0 October 2004 – October 2010
 5,400 0.01 April 2006 – April 2012
 40,000 380.0 April 2008 – April 2012
 800,000 385.0 April 2008 – April 2012
 279,125 396.0 June 2009 – June 2013
 200,000 399.0 April 2010 – April 2013

 2,876,025  

All share based payments are equity settled.

In most cases, various conditions are attached before options can be exercised, including meeting profitability targets, personal 
objectives and/or time periods.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

 2008 2007

 Weighted average  Number of Weighted average Number of 
 exercise price options exercise price options

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 297p 3,362,150 276p 2,914,900
Granted during the period – – 397p 585,000
Forfeited during the period 344p (478,125) 393p (67,750)
Exercised during the period 1p (8,000) 143p (70,000)        
Outstanding at the end of the period 290p 2,876,025 297p 3,362,150        
Exercisable at the end of the period 210p 1,462,900 211p 1,457,500        

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share options exercised during the period was 419p (2007: 424p).

In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 2, the recognition and measurement principles in IFRS 2 have not been 
applied to grants made prior to 7 November 2002. For grants subsequent to this date the fair values of services received in  
return for share options granted to employees are measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The estimate 
of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a Black-Scholes model (with the contractual life of the option and 
expectations of early exercise incorporated into the model).

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 March 2008. 
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25 Share based payments continued 
The principal assumptions used in assessing the fair value of share options were as follows:
 2008 2007

Fair value at measurement date n/a 97p
Weighted average share price n/a 397p
Exercise price n/a 396–399p
Expected volatility  n/a 25%
Expected option life  n/a 5 years
Expected dividends  n/a 2%
Risk free interest rate (based on national government bonds)  n/a 4.5%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options).

The total expenses recognised for the period arising from share based payments are as follows:
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Equity settled share based payments (213) 244

26 Provisions 
 Other Property Total 
 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2007 – 1,345 1,345
Provisions made during the year 510 – 510      
Balance at 31 March 2008 510 1,345 1,855      
Non-current – 1,345 1,345
Current 510 – 510      
 510 1,345 1,855

The property provision represents the estimated reinstatement cost of one of the Group’s leasehold properties under a fully 
repairing lease.

Other provisions consist of continuing contractual liabilities in relation to discontinued operations.

27 Share capital 
 Ordinary shares

In thousands of shares 2008 2007

In issue at 1 April 46,330 46,153
Issued as consideration for acquiring subsidiaries and associates 718 107
Options exercised during the year 8 70    
In issue at 31 March – fully paid 47,056 46,330    

 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of £0.05 each 6,047 6,047    
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of £0.05 each 2,353 2,317

During the year the Company issued 726,477 ordinary shares of 5p each for £2,644,000 in respect of partial consideration for the 
cost of acquiring subsidiaries and associates and the exercise of share options. 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at meetings of the Company.
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28 Dividends

Dividends paid

 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Final for previous period–7.75p (2007: 7.0p) 3,629 3,240
Interim for current period–2.0p (2007: 2.25p) 941 1,042    
 4,570 4,282

The Directors do not propose a final dividend for 2008.

29 Earnings per share
 2008 2007

Adjusted basic (loss)/earnings per share excluding significant items and discontinued operations  (3.2p) 29.4p 
Loss per share on significant items (13.2p) 1.7p
Loss per share on discontinued operations (9.3p) –    
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (25.7p) 31.1p    
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (25.7p) 30.6p 

The basic loss per share is based on the loss of £12,038,000 (2007: £14,384,000 profit) and the weighted average number  
of ordinary shares in issue of 46,799,068 (2007: 46,278,695) calculated as follows: 

Weighted average number of shares  
at start of the year in thousands of shares 2008 2007

Issued ordinary shares at start of the period 46,330 46,153
Shares issued in respect of acquisitions 461 85
Shared issued in respect of exercising of share options 8 41   

Weighted average number of shares at end of year 46,799 46,279

Adjusted basic loss per share excludes significant items charged of £7,471,000 (2007: £988,000 credited), the tax relief  
attributable to those items of £1,287,000 (2007: £170,000 charge), and the loss on discontinued operations (net of tax) of 
£4,375,000 (2007: £nil).

Share options have not been included in the calculation of fully diluted earnings per share for 2008 because their inclusion would 
be anti-dilutive. The instruments which could potentially dilute the basic earnings per share in the future, but were not included 
because they were anti-dilutive, are as follows:

 2008 2007

Number of shares
Share options (see note 25) 254,794 719,410   

30 Financial instruments
30 (a) Fair values of financial instruments
The carrying values for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities in the balance sheet, which are given below, are not 
considered to be materially different to their fair values. 

Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the balance sheet date if the effect is material. Doubtful receivable provisions are established based upon the 
difference between the receivable value and the estimated net collectable amount.

Trade and other payables
The fair value of trade and other payables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate 
of interest at the balance sheet date if the effect is material.

Cash and cash equivalents
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated as its carrying amount where the cash is repayable on demand. Where 
it is not repayable on demand then the fair value is estimated at the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the balance sheet date.
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30 Financial instruments continued
30 (a) Fair values of financial instruments continued
Interest-bearing borrowings
Fair value, which after initial recognition is determined for disclosure purposes only, is calculated based on the present value 
of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date. For finance leases 
the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements.

Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market price, if available. If a listed market price is not 
available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward 
price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).

The carrying values for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities in the balance sheet, which are given below, are not 
considered to be materially different to their fair values. 

Fair values
The carrying values for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities in the balance sheet, which are given below, are not 
considered to be materially different to their fair values. 

 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
 amount value amount value 
 2008 2008 2007 2007 
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents (note 20) 2,137 2,137 12,990 12,990
Trade and other receivables (note 19) 27,492 27,492 35,739 35,739
Assets classified as held for sale 1,718 1,718 20 20        
Total financial assets 31,347 31,347 48,749 48,749 
Bank overdraft (note 20) 64,898 64,898 48,557 48,557
Secured bank loans (note 21) 1,805 1,805 2,065 2,065
Other loans (note 21) 203 203 173 173
Finance lease liability (note 21) 76 76 208 208
Other financial liabilities 16,321 16,321 14,829 14,829
Trade and other payables (note 22) 21,698 21,698 16,140 16,140 
Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 105,001 105,001 81,972 81,972 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (note 23) – – 295 295
Financial liabilities at fair value through hedging reserve (note 23) 178 178 – –

Total financial liabilities at fair value 178 178 295 295

Total financial liabilities 105,179 105,179 82,267 82,267 
Net financial liabilities 73,832 73,832 33,518 33,518 

30 (b) Credit risks
Financial risk management 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investment securities.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is managed by dealing only with banks and financial institutions with strong credit ratings. 
The Group’s financial credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet  
are net of allowances for doubtful receivables estimated by the Group’s management, based on prior experience and their 
assessment of the current economic environment. 

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the maximum exposure to credit  
risk at the balance sheet date was £29,492,000 (2007: £35,739,000) being the total of the carrying amount of financial assets, 
excluding equity investments, shown in the table above.

There is not considered to be any credit risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents of £2,137,000 (2007: £12,990,000).
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30 Financial instruments continued  
30 (b) Credit risks continued 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the balance sheet date by geographic region was:

 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

UK 11,443 15,460
US 6,936 7,036
Europe 7,060 4,465
Rest of the world 560 429 
 25,999 27,390

The Group’s most significant customer accounts for £2,771,000 of the trade receivables carrying amount at 31 March 2008 
(2007: £2,111,000).

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses
The aging of trade receivables at the balance sheet date was:

 Gross Impairment Gross Impairment 
 2008 2008 2007 2007 
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Not past due 14,828 11 13,023 –
Past due 0–90 days 9,240 464 8,834 102
More than 90 days 4,531 2,125 6,798 1,163

 28,599 2,600 28,655 1,265

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April  1,265 1,102
Acquisition of subsidiary 25 –
Impairment loss recognised 1,632 471
Impairment loss reversed (416) (253)
Effects of movement in foreign exchange 94 (55)    
Balance at 31 March 2,600 1,265

The allowance account for trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of 
the amount owing is possible; at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written off against the trade receivables directly.

During 2008 the Group renegotiated the terms of a trade receivable of £122,000 (2007: no instances).
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30 Financial instruments continued
30 (c) Liquidity risks
Financial risk management 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Group’s policy with regard to liquidity has historically been to ensure adequate access to funds by maintaining appropriate 
levels of short-term overdraft facilities, which are reviewed on a regular basis. The maturity profile of debt outstanding at 31 March 
2008 is set out in note 21. For 2008 onwards the Group’s policy will be to introduce an element of longer-term borrowing and 
correspondingly reduce its short-term borrowing overdraft facilities.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments:

  Nominal Carrying Cash flows 1 year or 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years More than 
31 March 2008  interest rate  amount  less   5 years 
Financial instrument  % £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Secured bank loans – US dollar  2.26% 1,805 (1,845) (197) (201) (591) (856)
Other loans  – 203 (244) – – (244) –
Finance leases
– Sterling leases  7% – 9% 76 (79) (50) (29) – –
Other financial liabilities   16,321 (16,321) (13,515) (2,006) (800) –
Trade and other payables   21,698 (21,698) (21,698) – – –
Bank overdraft  2.59% – 5.55% 64,898 (64,898) (64,898) – – –

Derivatives   
Financial liabilities at fair value   
through hedging reserve  178 (17,400) (17,400) – – – 
   105,179 (122,485) (117,758) (2,236) (1,635) (856)

31 March 2007  Nominal Carrying Cash flows 1 year or 1–2 years 2–5 years More than 
Financial instrument  interest rate amount  less   5 years 
   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Secured bank loans – US dollar  2.26% 2,065 (2,111) (265) (403) (942) (501)
Other loans  – 173 (225) – – (225) –
Finance leases       
– Sterling leases  7% – 9% 133 (142) (28) (84) (30) –
– US dollar leases  5.5% 75 (77) (77) – – –
Other financial liabilities   14,829 (14,829) (14,829) – – –
Trade and other payables   16,140 (16,140) (16,140) – – –
Bank overdraft  3.95% – 6.02% 48,557 (48,557) (48,557) – – –

Derivative financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss   295 (12,513) (12,513) – – –

   82,267 (94,594) (92,409) (487) (1,197) (501) 
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30 Financial instruments continued
30 (d) Cash flow hedges
The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with cash flow hedging instruments are expected to occur:

 2008 2007

 Carrying Expected 1 year 1 to 2 to 5 years Carrying Expected 1 year 1 to 2 to 5 years 
 amount cash or less <2 years <5 years and amount cash or less <2 years <5 years and 
  flows    over  flows    over 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Forward exchange  
contracts:
Assets 233 (10,170) (10,170) – – – – – – – – –
Liabilities (411) (7,230) (7,230) – – – – – – – – –

 (178) (17,400) (17,400) – – – – – – – – –

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with cash flow hedging instruments are expected 
to affect profit or loss:
 2008 2007

 Carrying Expected 1 year 1 to 2 to 5 years Carrying Expected 1 year 1 to 2 to 5 years 
 amount cash or less <2 years <5 years and amount cash or less <2 years <5 years and 
  flows    over  flows    over 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Forward exchange  
contracts:            
Assets 233 (10,170) (7,617) (2,553) – – – – – – – –
Liabilities (411) (7,230) (5,423) (1,807) – – – – – – – –

 (178) (17,400) (13,040) (4,360) – – – – – – – –



International Greetings PLC 
Annual Report 2008
Notes continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

54/

30 Financial instruments continued
30 (e) Market risks
Financial risk management 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect 
the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The Group hedges a proportion, as deemed appropriate by management, of its UK subsidiaries’ sales and purchases of inventory 
denominated in foreign currency by entering into foreign exchange contracts. Such foreign exchange contracts typically have 
maturities of less than one year. 

The Group does not hedge profit translation exposure, since such hedges provide only a temporary deferral of the effects 
of movement in foreign exchange rates. Similarly, the Group does not hedge its long-term investments in overseas assets.

Market risk – foreign currency risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows. This is based on the carrying amount for monetary financial 
instruments except derivatives when it is based on notional amounts.

 Sterling Euro US dollar Other Total 
31 March 2008 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 163 1,156 413 405 2,137
Trade receivables 12,370 5,295 7,225 1,109 25,999
Secured bank loans – – (1,805) – (1,805)
Finance leases (76) – – – (76)
Other loans – (203) – – (203)
Bank overdrafts (18,836) (21,204) (24,941) 83 (64,898)
Trade payables (10,240) (3,531) (5,063) (1,746) (20,580)
Forward exchange contracts used 
for hedging – – 233 (411) (178)

Balance sheet exposure (16,619) (18,487) (23,938) (560) (59,604)

 Sterling Euro US dollar Other Total 
31 March 2007 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents  12,571 183 26 210 12,990
Trade receivables 15,371 3,797 7,676 546 27,390
Secured bank loans – – (2,065) – (2,065)
Finance leases (133) – (75) – (208)
Other loans – – (173) – (173)
Bank overdrafts (24,499) (15,135) (8,673) (250) (48,557)
Trade payables (10,009) (1,077) (2,492) (1,206) (14,784)
Forward exchange contracts designated  
as at fair value through profit and loss – – (295) – (295)

Balance sheet exposure (6,699) (12,232) (6,071) (700) (25,702)
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30 Financial instruments continued 
30 (e) Market risks continued
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
 Average rate Reporting date spot rate

Sterling 2008 2007 2008 2007

Euro 1 0.704 0.680 0.794 0.676
US dollar 1 0.498 0.532 0.508 0.508

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% weakening of the following currencies against the pound sterling at 31 March 2008 would have increased equity and profit 
or loss by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the balance sheet date and had been 
applied to risk exposures existing at that date. 

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular other exchange rates and interest rates, remain constant. The analysis 
is performed on the same basis for 31 March 2007.
 Equity Profit or loss

 2008 2007 2008 2007 
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Euro 1,681 1,128 1,681 1,128
US dollar 2,197 509 2,197 509

A 10% strengthening of the above currencies against the pound sterling at 31 March 2008 would have had the equal but opposite 
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Market risk – interest rate risk
Profile
At the balance sheet date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Fixed rate instruments
Financial liabilities (1,805) (2,065) 
 (1,805) (2,065)

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 2,137 12,990
Financial liabilities (65,177) (48,938)

 (63,040) (35,948)
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30 Financial instruments continued 
30 (e) Market risks continued
Sensitivity analysis 
A change of 0.5% basis points in interest rates at the balance sheet date would have decreased equity and profit or loss by the 
amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied to  
risk exposures existing at that date. 

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant and considers the effect on 
financial instruments with variable interest rates, financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss. The analysis is performed  
on the same basis for 31 March 2007.
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Equity
Increase – –
Decrease 324 190

Profit or loss
Increase – –
Decrease 324 190

30 (f) Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

31 Operating leases
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:  
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Less than one year 4,018 3,943
Between one and five years 10,774 11,936
More than five years 17,234 19,238

 32,026 35,117

The Group leases a number of warehouse and factory facilities as well as vehicles and office equipment under operating leases. 
The leases of warehouse and factory facilities typically have an option to renew at the end of the lease term and lease payments 
and are subject to five-yearly rent reviews.

One of the leased properties has been sublet by the Group. The sublease has a period to run of two years with an option for the 
lessee to renew at the end of the lease term. Sublease payments of £464,000 (2007: £nil) are expected to be received during the 
financial year. 

During the year £6,104,000 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases 
(2007: £5,415,000).

32 Capital commitments
At 31 March 2008, the Group had outstanding authorised capital commitments to purchase plant and equipment for £355,000 
(2007: £1,853,000). 
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33 Related parties
Identity of related parties
The Group made sales of goods of £487,000 (2007: £409,000) to and purchases of goods of £nil (2007: £40,000) from Hedlunds 
Pappers Industri AB. SA Hedlund is a director of Hedlunds Pappers Industri AB which is under the ultimate control of the Hedlund 
family. The Group also made sales of goods of £42,000 (2007: £14,000) to and purchases of goods of £302,000 (2007: £23,000) 
from Festive Productions Limited, a subsidiary undertaking of Malios AG, a company under the ultimate control of the Hedlund 
family. The Group also made sales of goods of £400,000 (2007: £25,000) to AB Alrick Hedlund. AB Alrick Hedlund is under the 
ultimate control of the Hedlund family. 

During the year ended 31 March 2008 the Group acquired 50% of the issued share capital of Halloween Express Inc and Artwrap 
Pty Ltd. The Group made sales of goods of £99,000 to Artwrap Pty Ltd. The Group also made sales of goods of £1,029,000 
to Halloween Express Inc. During the year it was decided to discontinue the operations of Halloween Express Inc (see note 13). 
The investment in Halloween Express Inc was written down to fair value resulting in a loss on remeasurement of £2,609,000 
being recognised.

At 31 March 2008, Hedlunds Pappers Industri AB owed the Group £59,000 (2007: £50,000 was owed to Hedlunds Pappers 
Industri by the Group), AB Alrick Hedlund owed the Group £3,000 (2007: £nil), the Group owed Festive Productions Limited 
£355,000 (2007: £23,000 owed by Festive Productions Limited to the Group), and Artwrap Pty Ltd owed the Group £96,000 
(2007: £nil). The above trading takes place in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms.

Directors of the Company and their immediate relatives control 63% of the voting shares of the Company. 

Other related party transactions

The compensation of key management personnel is shown in note 8.

34 Post balance sheet events 
Subsequent to the year end, the Group has completed the following financing arrangements:

•		the	Group	has	renewed	its	principal	overdraft	facility	of	£90	million,	which	is	due	to	be	reviewed	on	31	August	2009.
•		Hoomark	Gift-wrap	Partners	BV	secured	financing	consisting	of	a	term	loan	of	€9	million,	an	overdraft	of	€5	million	plus	 

an asset backed facility which varies in line with the value of stock and debtors it holds.

Subsequent to the year end, additional employee redundancies have been announced as part of the ongoing restructuring  
of the UK Greetings division. 

35 Explanation of transition to Adopted IFRSs 
As stated in note 1, these are the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with Adopted IFRSs.

The accounting policies set out in note 1 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008, 
the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007 and in the preparation 
of an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 April 2006 (the Group’s date of transition).

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet, the Group has adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements  
prepared in accordance with its old basis of accounting (UK GAAP). An explanation of how the transition from UK GAAP to 
Adopted IFRSs has affected the Group’s financial position and performance is set out in the following tables and the notes that 
accompany the tables.

The cash flow statement of the business has not been presented as the cash flows are unaffected.

Goodwill
Subject to the transitional relief in IFRS 1, all business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. 
Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and Jointly Controlled Entities. In respect 
of business acquisitions that have occurred since 1 April 2006, goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the 
acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. Identifiable intangibles are those which can be sold separately 
or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether those rights are separable. 

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not 
amortised but is tested annually for impairment. In respect of associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment in the associate.
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35 Explanation of transition to Adopted IFRSs continued
IFRS 1 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of Adopted IFRSs in the transition period. The Group elected not 
to restate business combinations that took place prior to 1 April 2006. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 April 2006, goodwill 
is included at 1 April 2006 on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the amount recorded under UK GAAP which was 
broadly comparable save that only separable intangibles were recognised and goodwill was amortised. Negative goodwill arising 
on an acquisition is recognised in profit or loss. 

Under UK GAAP the Group’s policy was to amortise goodwill over 10–30 years. Under IFRS 3 there is no amortisation of goodwill,  
so the goodwill amortisation charge of £1,458,000 for the year ended 31 March 2007 has been excluded from the restated accounts. 

Other intangible assets
Under UK GAAP, computer software was included in tangible assets. Under IFRS, it is included in intangible assets.

Forward contracts 
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on re-measurement to fair value is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss 
depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see below).

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. 
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is their quoted market price at the balance sheet date, if available. If a listed market 
price is not available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward prices and the 
current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). 

Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, 
or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised 
directly in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Under UK GAAP, no adjustment was made to reflect the fair value of forward exchange contracts entered into by the Group. 
A charge of £401,000 (before tax attributable of £120,000) for the year ended 31 March 2007 has been included in the restated 
accounts to reflect the change in the fair values of these financial instruments during these periods as the criteria for hedging 
were not met.

Short-term employee benefit obligation
Under IAS 19 – Employee benefits, short-term employee benefit obligations should be expensed as the related service is provided.

Under UK GAAP the Group have historically not accrued for short-term compensated absences. A charge of £16,000 (before tax 
attributable of £5,000) for the year ended 31 March 2007 has been included in the restated accounts to reflect the change to 
accruing for short-term compensated absences.

Advertising and marketing expenditure
Under IAS 38 – Intangible assets, advertising costs should be expensed when incurred. This treatment was confirmed during 
the June 2008 IAS Board meeting where it was clarified that the cost of goods and services used in advertising and promotional 
materials should be recognised as an expense by an entity when those goods or services are available to that entity and an entity 
may only recognise a prepayment if payments were made in advance of receipt of the goods or services. 

Under UK GAAP the Group prepaid certain advertising and marketing expenditure. A charge of £11,000 (before tax attributable  
of £3,000) for the year ended 31 March 2007 has been included in the restated accounts to reflect the change to immediate 
expensing of advertising and marketing.
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35 Explanation of transition to Adopted IFRSs continued  
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial 
recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than 
in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse  
in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement 
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Under UK GAAP, the Group had unprovided deferred tax liabilities on gains on capital disposals rolled over into replacement 
assets and where grants have reduced the tax cost of properties for use in capital gains calculations on future disposals. 
Under IFRSs, there is no option to not recognise a deferred tax liability in relation to this and therefore an adjustment has been 
made at 1 April 2006 and in the year ended 31 March 2007 to reflect the recognition of this liability. 

Impact on 1 April 2006
Retained earnings as at 1 April 2006 have been reduced by £1,181,000.
    
   £000

As previously stated 56,081

IFRS adjustments
– financial derivatives   74 
– recognition of deferred tax liability   (597)
– short-term employee benefit obligations   (266)
– advertising and marketing expenditure   (392)      
IFRS   54,900

Impact on profit for the year ending 31 March 2007

  UK GAAP Goodwill Financial Deferred Other Reclass- IFRS 
   adjustments derivatives tax adjustments ification  
    adjustments adjustments  of foreign 
       exchange 
Profit and loss account      gain 
Year ended 31 March 2007 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Revenue 196,718 – – – – – 196,718
Cost of sales (132,859) – – – – – (132,859)      
Gross profit 63,859 – – – – – 63,859
Distribution expenses (17,218) – – – – – (17,218)
Administration expenses (28,463) 1,458 – – (850) (265) (28,120)
Other operating income 2,240 – – – 823 – 3,063      
Operating profit 20,418 1,458 – – (27) (265) 21,584
Finance expenses (2,757) – (401) – – – (3,158)
Finance income – – – – – 265 265      
Profit before taxation 17,661 1,458 (401) – (27) – 18,691
Taxation (4,662) – 120 227 8 – (4,307)      
Profit after taxation  
attributable to equity  
holders of the  
parent company 12,999 1,458 (281) 227 (19) – 14,384

Earnings per share       
Basic 28.1p      31.1p
Diluted 27.7p      30.6p
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35 Explanation of transition to Adopted IFRSs continued

Impact on balance sheet at 31 March 2007

 UK GAAP Goodwill Financial Deferred tax Other IFRS 
  adjustments derivatives  adjustments adjustments 
   adjustments 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance sheet
31 March 2007

Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 41,882 – – – (332) 41,550
Intangible assets 26,695 1,458 – – 332 28,485      
Total non-current assets 68,577 1,458 – – – 70,035

Current assets   
Inventories 48,577 – – – – 48,577
Tax receivable 185 – – – – 185
Trade and other receivables 41,098 – – – (572) 40,526
Cash and cash equivalents 12,990 – – – – 12,990
Investments 20 – – – – 20      
Total current assets 102,870 – – – (572) 102,298      
Total assets 171,447 1,458 – – (572) 172,333      
Equity   
Issued capital 2,317 – – – – 2,317
Share premium 2,515 – – – – 2,515
Potential issue of shares 2,235 – – – (2,235) –
Reserves 11,759 – – – – 11,759
Retained earnings 65,042 1,458 (207) (370) (677) 65,246      
Total equity attributable to equity  
holders of the parent company 83,868 1,458 (207) (370) (2,912) 81,837
   
Non-current liabilities 
Loans and borrowings 2,060 – – – 76 2,136
Other financial liabilities 3,677 – – – (76) 3,601
Provisions 1,345 – – – – 1,345 
Deferred tax liabilities 594 – (88) 370 (290) 586

Total non-current liabilities 7,676 – (88) 370 (290) 7,668

Current liabilities 
Bank overdraft 48,557 – – – – 48,557
Loans and borrowings 310 – – – – 310
Deferred income 1,133 – – – – 1,133
Trade and other payables 15,450 – 295 – 395 16,140
Income tax liabilities 1,564 – – – – 1,564
Other financial liabilities 12,889 – – – 2,235 15,124      
Total current liabilities 79,903 – 295 – 2,630 82,828

Total liabilities 87,579 – 207 370 2,340 90,496      
Total equity and liabilities 171,447 1,458 – – (572) 172,333
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 2008 2007 
  Restated (note 36)

 Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed assets     
Tangible assets 38  635  734
Investments 39  50,419  47,350

   51,054  48,084
Current assets     
Debtors 40 1,747  1,835 
Cash at bank and in hand  15,968  2,668 

  17,715  4,503 
     
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 41 (26,558)  (8,216)   
Net current liabilities   (8,843)  (3,713)

Total assets less current liabilities    42,211  44,371
Creditors: amounts falling due after   

more than one year 42  (750)  –

Net assets   41,461  44,371

Capital and reserves     
Called up share capital 43  2,353  2,317
Share premium account 44  3,006  2,515
Capital redemption reserve 44  1,340  1,340
Merger reserve 44  15,533  13,416
Profit and loss account 44  19,229  24,783

Equity shareholders’ funds   41,461  44,371

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 August 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

N Fisher M Collini
Director Director
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36 Accounting policies – Company
Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable UK Generally Accepted Accounting Standards and 
under the historical cost accounting rules. The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with matters 
which are considered material in relation to the financial statements.

Under section 230(4) of the Companies Act 1985 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and 
loss account. 

Under Financial Reporting Standard 1 the Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the 
grounds that a parent undertaking includes the Company in its own published consolidated financial statements.

As 100% of the Company’s voting rights are controlled within the Group headed by International Greetings PLC, the Company 
has taken advantage of the exemption within FRS 8 and has therefore not disclosed transactions or balances with entities that 
form part of the Group.

Prior year comparatives have been restated to reflect amounts shown previously in potential issue of shares now included in 
creditors less than one year.

Investment in subsidiary undertakings
The Company’s investment in subsidiary undertakings is stated at cost less any provision for impairment.

Fixed assets and depreciation
Depreciation is provided by the Group to write off the cost less the estimated residual value of tangible fixed assets by equal 
instalments over their estimated useful economic lives as follows:

•	 	Leasehold	land	and	buildings	 –	 life	of	lease;	
•	 	Office	equipment	 –	 3	to	5	years;
•	 	Motor	vehicles	 –	 4	years.	

No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the 
gains or losses on translation are included in the profit and loss account, except in the case of loans to finance equity investment 
in overseas subsidiaries where both the investment and the loan are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and the exchange differences are taken directly to reserves.

Government grants
Capital based government grants are included within accruals and deferred income in the balance sheet and credited to 
operating profit over the estimated useful economic lives of the assets to which they relate. 

Leases
Where the Company enters into a lease which entails taking substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset, 
the lease is treated as a “finance lease”. The asset is recorded in the balance sheet as a tangible fixed asset and is depreciated 
over its estimated useful life or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter. Future instalments under such leases, net of finance 
charges, are included within creditors. Rentals payable are apportioned between the finance element, which is charged to the 
profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the life of the lease, and the capital element which reduces the outstanding 
obligation for future instalments.

All other leases are accounted for as “operating leases” and the rentals payable are charged to the profit and loss account 
on a straight line basis over the life of the lease.
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36 Accounting policies – Company continued 
Pension costs
The Group operates a defined contribution Group personal pension scheme. The assets of this scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The pension charge represents contributions payable by the 
Group to the fund.

Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing differences 
between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred tax is recognised, without discounting, in respect of all timing differences between the treatment of certain items for 
taxation and accounting purposes which have arisen but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except as otherwise required 
by FRS 19.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Company
Following the adoption of FRS 25, financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity (i.e. forming part 
of shareholders’ funds) only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions: 

a)  they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial 
assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Company; and 

b)  where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes 
no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the 
Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument 
so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for called 
up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares. 



International Greetings PLC 
Annual Report 2008
Notes continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

64/

36 Accounting policies – Company continued
Share based payments
The share option programme allows employees to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted after 
7 November 2002 and those not yet vested as at 1 April 2005 is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using an option pricing model, taking 
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is only due to share prices not achieving the 
threshold for vesting.

For cash settled share based payment transactions, with the exception of those awards settled before the transition date, the fair 
value of the amount payable to the employee is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities. The fair value 
is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. 

The fair value is initially measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally 
entitled to payment. The fair value is measured based on an option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the instruments were granted. The liability is revalued at each balance sheet date and settlement date with any 
changes to fair value being recognised in the profit and loss account.

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries it recognises an increase in the 
cost of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recognised in its subsidiary’s 
financial statements with the corresponding credit being recognised directly in equity. Amounts recharged to the subsidiary are 
recognised as a reduction in the cost of investment in subsidiary. If the amount recharged exceeds the increase in the cost of 
investment the excess is recognised as a dividend to the extent that it reflects post-acquisition profits of the subsidiary. 

Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds
Dividends unpaid at the balance sheet date are only recognised as a liability at that date to the extent that they are appropriately 
authorised and are no longer at the discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends that do not meet these criteria are disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand.
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37 Dividends 
The aggregate amount of dividends comprises:
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Final dividends paid in respect of prior year but not recognised as liabilities in that year 3,629 3,240
Interim dividends paid in respect of the current year 941 1,042    
Aggregate amount of dividends paid in the financial year 4,570 4,282

38 Tangible fixed assets 
 Land and Office Motor Total 
 buildings equipment vehicles  
Company £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At beginning of year 390 458 387 1,235
Additions 2 44 118 164
Disposals – – (153) (153)

At end of year 392 502 352 1,246

Depreciation
At beginning of year 37 228 236 501
Charge for year 26 129 94 249
On disposals – – (139) (139) 
At end of year 63 357 191 611 
Net book value
At end of year 329 145 161 635

At beginning of year 353 230 151 734 

The net book value of land and buildings comprises:
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Freehold – –
Short leasehold 329 353    
 329 353
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39 Fixed asset investments
 Shares in  Shares in Total 
 associates subsidiary  
  undertakings  
Company £000 £000 £000

Cost
At beginning of year – 47,350 47,350
Additions during the year (note 16) 2,507 – 2,507
Capital reduction – share based payments – (213) (213)
Adjustment to cost of acquisitions in previous period – 775 775      
At end of year 2,507 47,912 50,419

The trading subsidiary and associate undertakings of the Company are as follows:

Country of Company Incorporation Principal activity % of Ordinary 
    Shares held

Subsidiary
Scandinavian Design Limited Great Britain Manufacture of gift wrapping paper 
   bows and ribbons 100%
Belgrave Graphics Limited Great Britain Greetings cards, gift tags and bags 100%
Scoop Designs Limited Great Britain Packaged gifts 100%
Brite Sparks Limited Great Britain Christmas crackers 100%
Metier Creative Associates Limited Great Britain Design agency 100%
Gift Design Limited Great Britain Gift packaging 100%
Hysil Manufacturing Company Inc US Manufacture of gift wrapping paper, 
   bows and ribbons 100%
International Greetings Asia Limited Hong Kong Trading Company 100%
The Shenzhen Gift International  
Greetings Company Limited China Manufacture of Christmas crackers 100% (indirect holding)
Hoomark Gift-wrap Partners BV Netherlands Manufacture of gift wrapping paper 100%
IG Latvia SIA Latvia Manufacture of greetings cards and tags 100%
Balt IG SIA Latvia Manufacture of bows and ribbons 100%
Anker International PLC Great Britain Distribution of photo albums, frames, 
   stationery and Christmas related products 100%
Leonard Henry Holdings BV Netherlands Holding company 100%
Anchor International BV Netherlands Distribution of photo albums, frames,  
   stationery and Christmas related products 100% (indirect holding)
Alligator Books Ltd Great Britain Children’s book publisher and stationery 100%
Eick Pack Werner Eick GmbH & Co Germany Manufacturer of gift wrap counter rolls 100% (indirect holding)
Weltec Holdings BV Netherlands Distributor of photographic frames 100% (indirect holding)
Glitterwrap Inc US Supplier of gift wrap and 
   party ware products 100% (indirect holding)
Associates
Halloween Express Inc US Retailer of Halloween products 50% (indirect holding)
Asadart LLC Inc US Internet retailer of Halloween and 
   Christmas products 50% (indirect holding)
Vizterra LLC Inc US Retailer of Halloween and 
   Christmas products 50% (indirect holding)
Artwrap Pty Ltd Australia Design and distribution of 
   gift wrap and greetings products 50%
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40 Debtors
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Trade debtors 40 660
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 1,099 259
Other debtors 81 165
Prepayments 394 717
Deferred tax asset  133 34

 1,747 1,835

Included within debtors is £1,301,000 (2007: £nil) expected to be recovered in more than 12 months.

The deferred tax asset in the Company is recoverable after more than one year.
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Deferred tax asset 
Difference between accumulated depreciation and capital allowances 108 (57)
Other timing differences  25 91    
 133 34

41 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Trade creditors 1,133 903
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 22,603 929
Corporation tax 300 173
Other taxes and social security 159 211
Other creditors 1,083 4,262
Accruals and deferred income 1,280 1,738

 26,558 8,216

42 Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Accruals and deferred income 750 –
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43 Called up share capital
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

Authorised 
120,948,860 (2007: 120,948,860) ordinary shares of 5p each 6,047 6,047 
Allotted, called up and fully paid
47,056,685 (2007: 46,330,208) ordinary shares of 5p each 2,353 2,317  

During the year the Company issued 726,477 ordinary shares of 5p for £2,644,000 as partial consideration for the cost of 
acquiring subsidiaries and associates. 

44 Share premium and reserves
  Share  Capital Merger Profit and 
  premium redemption reserve loss 
   reserve  account 
Company  £000 £000 £000 £000

At beginning of year   2,515 1,340 13,416 24,783
    
Loss for the financial year  – – – (771)
Dividend paid in the year (note 28)  – – – (4,570)
Share based payments  – – – (213)
New shares issued on acquisition of subsidiaries  491 – 2,117 –
Decrease in potential issue of shares  – – – –

At end of year  3,006 1,340 15,533 19,229

45 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
 2008 2007 
 £000 £000

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (771) 7,663
Dividends paid (4,570) (4,282)    
 (5,341) 3,381
  
New shares issued on acquisition of subsidiaries 2,644 531
Share based payments (213) 244    
Net (decrease)/increase in shareholders’ funds (2,910) 4,156    
Opening shareholders’ funds 44,371 39,792
Prior year adjustment – share based payments – 423    
Closing shareholders’ funds 41,461 44,371    

46 Contingencies
The Company has given, together with its UK subsidiary undertakings, an unlimited composite joint and several guarantee in 
respect of the bank loans and overdrafts of itself and its subsidiaries. The total of this guarantee at the year end, in relation to the 
Company only was £70,336,000 (2007: £47,531,000) in excess of the amount dealt with in the Company’s financial statements.  
No such contingent liability arises under this guarantee for the Group.
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of International Greetings plc (“the Company”) will be held at 
Belgrave House, Hatfield Business Park, Frobisher Way, Hatfield, Hertfordshire, AL10 9TQ at 11am on Monday, 29 September 
2008 for the following purposes:

Ordinary business
1.  To receive and consider the accounts of the Company and reports of the Directors and auditors of the Company for the year 

ended 31 March 2008.
2.  To re-elect J E Jones as a Director.
3.  To reappoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditors for the ensuing year and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration.

Special business
4.  To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution which will be proposed as an ordinary resolution:

  THAT, the Directors be generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot relevant 
securities (within the meaning of section 80(2) of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”), up to an aggregate nominal value of 
£776,435, such authority to expire at the end of the next AGM of the Company after the date of the passing of this resolution 
(unless previously reviewed, varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting), provided that the Company may before 
such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and 
the Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had  
not expired. 

5.  To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution which will be proposed as a special resolution:

  THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 4, the Board of Directors of the Company be and is hereby authorised and 
empowered pursuant to section 95 of the Act to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of the Act) for cash as 
if Section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment and the Board of Directors shall be entitled to make at any time 
prior to the expiry of the power hereby conferred any offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be 
allotted after the expiry of such power, provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities up to an 
aggregate nominal value of £117,641 representing 5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date hereof.

6.  To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution which will be proposed as a special resolution:

  THAT, pursuant to Article 9 of the Company’s Articles of Association and section 166 of the Act, the Company be and is 
hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to make one or more market purchases (within the meaning of section 163(3) 
of the Act) of its ordinary shares of 5p each in the capital of the Company provided that:

(a)  the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares which may be purchased is 4,705,668 (representing approximately 
10% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital at the date hereof):

(b)  the minimum price which may be paid for each ordinary share is 5p per share (exclusive of tax and expenses);

(c)  the maximum price which may be paid for each ordinary share is not more than 5% above the average of the middle market 
quotations for an ordinary share as derived from the AIM Appendix to The London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five 
business days immediately preceding the day on which the ordinary share is purchased (exclusive of tax and expenses);

(d)  the authority hereby granted shall expire 18 months from the date of this resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the AGM  
of the Company to be held in 2009, provided that a contract of purchase may be made before such an expiry which will or may 
be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of this authority and the purchase of ordinary shares may be made in pursuance 
of any such contract as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired. 

By order of the Board

M Collini
Secretary 

21 August 2008
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Notes:
1.  A member of the Company entitled to vote and attend at the above meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend 

and (on a poll) vote instead of him/her. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.  Completion and return of a form of proxy does not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting in person 
should he/she so wish. 

3.  A form of proxy is attached and to be valid must be completed and returned so as to reach the Company’s registered address 
(together with a letter or power of attorney or other written authority, if any, under which it is signed or notarially certified 
or office copy of such power or written authority) not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for holding the meeting or 
any adjournment thereof.

4.  As provided by Regulation 41(1) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, only those members registered in the 
register of members of the Company 48 hours before the time set for the meeting shall be entitled to attend and vote at the 
meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the relevant register 
of securities after that time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

5.  The following documents will be available for inspection at the registered office during normal business hours on any 
business day and also during the AGM and for 15 minutes before it starts:

•	 	copies	of	the	Directors’	service	contracts	with,	or	letters	of	appointment	by,	the	Company;	and
•	 	the	register	of	Directors’	interests	in	the	Company’s	shares.
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For the use of Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

I/We  of 

   
being the holder(s) of ordinary shares in International Greetings PLC hereby appoint the Chairman of the Meeting 

or  as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on 
my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 29 September 2008 and at any adjournment thereof. 
(The manner in which the proxy is to vote shall be indicated by inserting an “X” in the space provided. If no “X” is inserted the 
proxy will vote or abstain as he thinks fit).

Resolutions

For Against

1 To receive the Directors’ report and accounts

2 To re-elect J E Jones as a Director

3  To re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditor and to authorise  
the Directors to fix their remuneration

4 To authorise the issue of new ordinary shares

5 To disapply section 89(1) of the Companies Act 1985

6 To authorise the purchase of the Company’s own shares

Dated this  day of  

Signature or Common Seal  

Notes
1  If you wish to appoint a proxy of your own choice, you should delete “the Chairman of the Meeting” and insert the name 

of your choice and initial the alteration.
2  To be effective, this form of proxy must be completed and returned so as to reach the Company’s registered address 

(together with a letter or power of attorney or other written authority, if any, under which it is signed or notarially certified 
or office copy of such power or written authority) not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for holding the meeting or 
any adjournment thereof. 

3  If the form of proxy is given by a Company, it must be given under its common seal, or under the hand of its attorney 
or officer of the Company duly authorised in writing.

4  In the case of joint holders, if more than one of them tenders a vote at the meeting either personally or by proxy the joint 
holder whose name appears first in the register of members in respect of the joint holding shall alone be entitled to vote 
in respect thereof.

5  The completion and return of this form of proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting at the meeting should you 
subsequently decide to do so.
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PLEASE

AFFIX

STAMP

HERE

International Greetings PLC
Belgrave House
Hatfield Business Park
Frobisher Way
Hatfield AL10 9TQ

2nd fold

3rd fold & tuck in

1st fold
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